



© 2021, Inter-American Dialogue. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution - No Derivatives License. To view this license, visit (www. creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0). For re-use or distribution, please include this copyright notice. This report is a product of the Peter D. Bell Rule of Law Program at the Inter-American Dialogue. The views and recommendations contained herein are solely the opinions of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the consensus views of the board, staff, and members of the Inter-American Dialogue or any of its partners, donors, and/or supporting institutions. The Inter-American Dialogue is a non-partisan organization deeply committed to intellectual independence, transparency, and accountability. While donors are encouraged to participate in Dialogue activities, they do not influence our work in any way. Financial supporters have no control over the writing, methodology, analysis or findings of the Dialogue's research efforts. First Edition. Printed in Washington, DC. Cover photo: jodylehigh / Pixabay / CC0

Layout: Catharine Christie / Inter-American Dialogue

THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC AND PRISON POLICY IN LATIN AMERICA

María Luisa Romero, Luisa Stalman and Azul Hidalgo Solá

APRIL 2021

Foreword

The Inter-American Dialogue's Peter D. Bell Rule of Law Program is pleased to present *The Covid-19 Pandemic and Prison Policy in Latin America*. Since the onset of the pandemic, the Dialogue has sought to understand and analyze its far-reaching effects on democratic governance and social progress in the Americas. This policy brief represents an important contribution to the Dialogue's work in this area.

Latin America's prisons have long been plagued by poor infrastructure, unsanitary conditions, and severe overcrowding. In the context of a global pandemic, these preexisting conditions became not just human rights concerns and citizen security vulnerabilities, but public health risks as well. As the policy brief documents, the potential for prisons to become epicenters of the Covid-19 outbreak triggered serious concerns for the wellbeing and lives of both prisoners and the broader public.

As the brief also shows, Latin American countries largely recognized the need to adapt their penitentiary policies in response to the pandemic. In some cases, they acted nimbly to introduce policy innovations, including in politically sensitive areas such as reducing prison populations. The extensive research reflected in the policy brief shows the wide variety of measures adopted by policymakers, and also some of the limitations that governments encountered.

While this brief offers an initial assessment of Latin American prison policy in the early stages of the Covid-19 pandemic, it also poses critical questions that require additional study. Some of the policy innovations adopted during the pandemic provide a basis on which to fundamentally rethink prison policy in the region. However, further analysis is needed to understand the scope and impact of these reforms. In this regard, the policy brief aims to provoke and inform an urgent conversation on the future of Latin American prisons, and its conclusions and takeaways offer a roadmap for this conversation.

The policy brief was authored principally by María Luisa Romero, a member of the Inter-American Dialogue, former Minister of Government of Panama, and member of the United Nations Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture. Romero wrote the report in her personal capacity. The brief was co-authored by Luisa Stalman, a senior at Duke University studying Political Science and Latin American History, and Azul Hidalgo Solá, a senior studying International Affairs at The George Washington University. Both Stalman and Hidalgo are former interns with the Peter D. Bell Rule of Law Program. The report was coordinated and edited by Michael J. Camilleri and Catharine Christie, director and program assistant of the Peter D. Bell Program. Catharine Christie also led the final review and layout of the report, with the support of Dialogue intern Sofía Corzo, a student at Harvard University.

The Dialogue is grateful to the authors of the policy brief for their important work on this critical topic, and to the Ford Foundation for its ongoing support of the Peter D. Bell Rule of Law Program.

MICHAEL SHIFTER

President, Inter-American Dialogue

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	6
I. Introduction	8
II. Background: Prisons in Latin America, a Public Health Crisis	9
1. Latin American Prison Population in Numbers	9
2. Root Causes of Overcrowding	9
3. Recurring Public Health Challenges in Prisons	9
III. An Urgent New Challenge: Latin American Prisons and Covid-19	10
1. Covid-19 Inside and Outside the Prison Walls	10
2. Initial Impact of Covid-19 in Prisons	10
3. Pandemic Related Surges in Violence	10
IV. Covid-19 and the Prison Policy Response in Latin America	12
1. Recommendations of International Human Rights Bodies	12
2. Policy Responses to Address Critical Sanitation Deficiencies	13
3. Policy Responses to Facilitate Safe Communication with the Outside World	13
4. Prison Policy Responses to Reduce Prison Overcrowding	14
i. Judicial Measures	14
ii. Legislative Measures	15
iii. Executive Branch Measures	16
5. Results of Measures to Reduce the Prison Population	17
6. Challenges to Efforts to Reduce Prison Overcrowding	19
i. Public opposition to prison releases and challenges in courts	19
ii. Concerns over impunity	20
iii. Questions as to whether extraordinary measures passed were actually effective	20
iv. Reintegration challenges	20
V. Takeaways and Recommendations	21
1. Prison health is public health	21
2. States can and should mobilize to improve prison conditions	
3. Countries need to seriously rethink the importance of reducing prison overcrowding	22
4. Technology use should be expanded to complement important aspects of prison life	22
5. Greater transparency is needed about the impact of pandemic-related prison policies	23
6. Further research is needed for policy design/making	24
VI. Conclusion	24
Endnotes	25

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The novel coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic has brought about unprecedented challenges on a global scale, revealing and exacerbating policy failures that affect the most marginalized communities, including those deprived of their liberty. In Latin America, where prisons have suffered from decades of abandonment and official neglect, the pandemic has brought tragedy and unrest to prisons and posed unique challenges for governments, monitoring bodies, civil society and international institutions. The post-pandemic period, however, presents a unique and historic opportunity for Latin American policymakers to reassess and shift course with respect to prisons and criminal justice, building on fragile but innovative policy experiments triggered by the pandemic.

Prisons in Latin America have long been characterized by deficient health and sanitary conditions, inadequate infrastructure, recurring public health challenges, and widespread overcrowding. The Covid-19 pandemic exposed and exacerbated these weaknesses, putting both the incarcerated population and the community-at-large at higher risk of infection.

Our report finds that in the early months of the pandemic between March and July 2020, Latin American countries confronted this reality by adopting a range of policies with the objective of mitigating public health risks to prisoners and the broader population. At the most basic level, public authorities attempted to address critical sanitation deficiencies in prisons. The suspension of visits due to Covid-19 also forced nations to mobilize around improving communication between prisoners and the outside world. Our research shows that many nations across the region have introduced telephone communication and video conferencing to supplement suspended visitations.

Most significantly, this report analyzes how nations in Latin America have implemented processes to reduce their overall prison populations through judicial, legislative, and/or executive measures. Initiatives to address overcrowding include reevaluating pretrial detentions, adopting alternative sentencing measures such as early release or house arrest, and presidential pardons. The impact of these various measures is difficult to measure with complete accuracy given most countries provide inconsistent or incomplete information. Notwithstanding, our research suggests that prison releases in response to Covid-19 were likely less than five percent of the overall Latin American prison population. Even so, in some cases efforts to mitigate prison overcrowding in the context of the pandemic faced significant political and judicial pushback.

This paper posits that the measures implemented by countries in Latin America during the pandemic provide valuable lessons for government authorities, policymakers, international human rights bodies, and advocates. Policy reforms adopted out of necessity during the pandemic, some of which were considered politically unpalatable before the Covid-19 emergency, offer important lessons and in some cases proof of concept for overdue shifts in prison policy. Based on this body of evidence and experience, Latin American governments can and should mobilize to address the systemic weaknesses in prison systems across the region and adopt prison policies that are respectful of human rights and more effectively protect the interests of society at large. The policy decisions made during and in the wake of the pandemic may very well define prison and criminal justice policy in Latin America for the near future. Covid-19 has made glaringly clear a reality that should be the starting point for a new type of reform: prisons and society are intrinsically interdependent and face shared risks as well as responsibilities.

The report concludes with the following takeaways and recommendations:

1. PRISON HEALTH IS PUBLIC HEALTH

The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted that prison conditions in Latin America, such as overcrowding, limited access to hygiene products, poor ventilation, inadequate nutrition, and deteriorated infrastructure represent important challenges to public health. It has also emphasized the possible public health costs of over-incarceration.

2. STATES CAN AND SHOULD MOBILIZE TO IMPROVE PRISON CONDITIONS

Faced with the imminent and grave threat that Covid-19 presented for the prison population and beyond, several countries in Latin America advanced initiatives to address some of the vulnerabilities in their prison systems. In particular, the efforts to reduce overcrowding were diverse and came from all three branches of government. In an area in which prison administrators are too frequently left alone, the involvement of the legislative and judiciary branches in the search for viable responses to the pandemic in the prison context has been refreshing. The efforts to reduce overcrowding were unprecedented.

3. GOVERNMENTS NEED TO SERIOUSLY RETHINK THE IMPORTANCE OF REDUCING PRISON OVERCROWDING

The Covid-19 pandemic highlighted what has been reiterated by criminal justice and human rights experts – overcrowding not only violates the rights of persons deprived of liberty but is also extremely dangerous from a public health perspective. Covid-19 serves as a wake-up call for governments in the region to reconsider the laws, policies, and practices that have led to such high levels of overcrowding and inhumane prisons in the first place.

4. TECHNOLOGY SHOULD BE USED TO COMPLEMENT IMPORTANT ASPECTS OF PRISON LIFE

Crisis can and should spark innovation. Such has been the case of the prison systems in the region that attempted to mitigate the worst effects of the restrictions on contact with the outside world by using technology to provide alternative means of communication. Technology can also be beneficial and should be explored to alleviate other collateral consequences of confinement, such as the lack of effective and sufficient educational and rehabilitation programs as well as inadequate medical attention.

5. GREATER TRANSPARENCY IS NEEDED ABOUT THE IMPACT OF PANDEMIC-RELATED PRISON POLICIES

Before the Covid-19 pandemic, several prison systems in the region were already marked by difficulty in the access to statistics and information. During the pandemic, which called for closer scrutiny of the system, there has been a troubling lack of complete and updated data as well as underreporting from States regarding the impact of Covid-19 in prisons. For example, most countries have not released publicly available information as to the impact of the measures taken to alleviate Covid-19's impact in the prison context, including the number of prisoners released, which renders their evaluation difficult.

6. FURTHER RESEARCH IS NEEDED FOR POLICY DESIGN/MAKING

For real transformation to take place, research and science need to be part of the solution. Even while we remain in the midst of the pandemic, a roadmap detailing necessary further research can help to ensure that we learn the right lessons. The knowledge acquired should then be used to design better public policies and build more effective prison systems that respect human rights. This roadmap should include: further study and assessment of Covid-19 impact in prisons across the region, comparative analysis of the different measures taken by countries and their impact, and greater information sharing and cooperation among Latin American countries regarding the impact of Covid-19 and priorities for future policy reform.



I. Introduction

Beyond the public health emergency unleashed by the new coronavirus, the Covid-19 pandemic has exposed and exacerbated the vulnerabilities faced by the world's poorest and most marginalized people, including those deprived of liberty. In Latin America,1 where prisons have suffered from decades of abandonment and official neglect, the Covid-19 pandemic has brought tragedy and unrest to prisons and posed unique challenges for governments, monitoring bodies, civil society and international institutions. The pandemic, however, presents a unique and historic opportunity for Latin American policymakers to reassess and shift course with respect to prisons and criminal justice reform, building on fragile but innovative policy experiments triggered by the pandemic. The region must prioritize human dignity and ensure that persons deprived of liberty are not isolated and forgotten but, rather, understood as inextricably linked to the well-being of society at large, not just from a security perspective but also from a health, social and moral one.

The pandemic presents
a unique and historic
opportunity for Latin American
policymakers to reassess and
shift course with respect to
prisons and criminal justice
reform, building on fragile but
innovative policy experiments
triggered by the pandemic.

United Nations Secretary-General Antonio Guterres has emphasized that the response to the Covid-19 pandemic needs to be human rights-focused so that we know "who is suffering most, why, and what can be done about it." From the early stages of the pandemic, international bodies such as the World Health Organization ("WHO")

and the United Nations Subcommittee on the Prevention of Torture ("SPT"), as well as regional ones such as the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights ("IACHR") and the European Committee for the Prevention of Torture, highlighted the vulnerability of people deprived of liberty around the world and made important recommendations that sought to protect their health and human rights.

These calls are particularly relevant in Latin America, where for decades local stakeholders and international watchdogs have called on governments to address the systemic weaknesses of the region's prison systems, often to little avail. However, the public health emergency represented by the pandemic led many governments in the region to implement a variety of policies to finally address some of these weaknesses. Perhaps most significantly, several Latin American states have attempted, through different methods, to directly address the longstanding problem of prison overcrowding by reducing the prison population. In general, these efforts have come late, been insufficient and faced important challenges at the national level. Their effectiveness in terms of preventing Covid-19 transmission and related deaths are also difficult to measure. However, at the same time these measures also offer a glimmer of hope that governments in the region can and should take action to address the chronic problems prisons have historically faced.

This paper posits that the prison policies adopted by Latin American states in response to the Covid-19 pandemic (or lack thereof) offer important lessons to governments and policymakers. It first provides a brief overview of the challenges faced by prisons in the region prior to Covid-19 and seeks to explain why the ongoing pandemic threatens to exacerbate these problems and deepen the public health risks in the general population. It then describes several of the policy measures taken by Latin American governments in the early months of the Covid-19 pandemic, as well as some of the obstacles these measures confronted. The paper concludes by drawing several preliminary conclusions with respect to the region's management of the Covid-19 pandemic in the context of Latin American prisons and providing policymakers with relevant takeaways to consider as they construct more humane and secure prison systems that maximize wellbeing for both persons deprived of liberty and society at large. The paper relies on information from international organizations, government databases, local media outlets and the World Prison Population List.³ It also incorporates information and analysis by other publications that focus on the response of Latin American countries to the Covid-19 pandemic in the prison context.4 Unless otherwise noted, the information included spans the time period of March-July 2020.

II. Background: Prisons in Latin America, a Public Health Tinderbox

Prisons in Latin America are notoriously known for being overcrowded, unsanitary, chaotic and violent; places in which the rehabilitation of a person deprived of liberty represents a real challenge.5 International and local organizations have consistently documented these severe systemic weaknesses over the last several decades. For example, the IACHR has stressed the seriousness of prison overcrowding in the region for over 45 years.6 The Inter-American Development Bank ("IADB") highlighted recently that the alarming growth of the prison population in the region over the past 20 years "has collapsed the prison systems and is putting at risk the main objective of prisons: social reintegration of inmates."7 With the Covid-19 pandemic, the preexisting conditions that have been deemed to violate the human rights of people deprived of liberty in the region now exponentially exacerbate inmates' vulnerability and, in turn, that of society at large.

1. Latin American Prison Population in Numbers

There are approximately 1.5 million prisoners in Latin America and the Caribbean.8 The region has experienced a growth in prison population of 120 percent, compared to 24 percent worldwide.9 South America leads the trend in the region with a 175 percent increase.10 The rate of incarceration for women in the past decade in Latin America and the Caribbean has also grown by 52 percent.11

As of September 2018, the world prison population rate, based on national population levels worldwide, was 145 per 100,000 persons. ¹² In Latin America, the prison population rate is considerably higher: in South American countries, the median rate is 233, while in Central American countries the median rate is 316. ¹³ On average, prisons in the region are operating at 144.2 percent capacity. ¹⁴ In many countries, the overcrowding problem is extreme, with over-capacity levels reaching more than 300 percent. ¹⁵ According to a recent IADB study, around 58 percent of prisoners in the region do not sleep in beds, a fact that illustrates the severity of this issue. ¹⁶

2. Root Causes of Overcrowding

Latin America's prison overcrowding problem is attributable to multiple factors, including the following: a lack of adequate infrastructure, the implementation of repressive social control policies that resort to the deprivation of liberty as the first response to public security, the excessive use of pre-trial detention and deprivation of liberty as a criminal sanction,

and the lack of a quick and efficient response by the court systems.¹⁷ The use of pretrial detention has increased in the Americas by 71 percent from 2000 to 2020, "with numbers more than trebling in Brazil, Paraguay and Venezuela and doubling in Argentina, Bolivia, Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, Haiti, Nicaragua and Peru." In countries such as Honduras, the Dominican Republic, Bolivia and Venezuela, more than half of the total prison population has not been sentenced. In Paraguay, prisoners without a sentence constitute more than 70 percent of the prison population. According to the IACHR, the use of pre-trial detention is one of the most serious and widespread problems affecting the human rights of persons deprived of liberty in the Americas.

3. Recurring Public Health Challenges in Prisons

In addition to the inherent, practical problems that arise from overcrowding, prisons in the region suffer from widespread unsanitary conditions, including inadequate access to healthcare, hygienic services, drinking water and food. Although States owe a duty of care to prisoners that should be equivalent to the standards of health care that are available in the community,22 the precariousness and lack of resources within prisons directly affect healthcare access and the quality of care that persons deprived of liberty receive. A recent survey by the IADB revealed that 29 percent of the prison population in the region does not receive medical care, 20 percent of prisoners do not have regular access to drinking water and only 37 percent have access to soap.23 The IACHR has noted that the medical services provided in the region's prisons generally "do not meet minimum standards of care" and has highlighted several deficiencies such as insufficient and untrained medical personnel, as well as inadequate medicine, medical supplies and equipment.²⁴ The IACHR has also observed that food is not provided in appropriate conditions of quantity, quality and hygiene.²⁵

Many persons deprived of liberty, in part because they come from socially disadvantaged segments of the community, tend to be more susceptible to disease and suffer from worse health conditions than the general population.²⁶ According to the WHO, persons deprived of liberty "frequently face greater exposure to risks such as smoking, poor hygiene and weak immune defense due to stress, poor nutrition, or prevalence of coexisting diseases, such as bloodborne viruses, tuberculosis and drug use disorders."27 For example, the IADB notes that tuberculosis in the region's prisons is 81 times more prevalent than in the general population and that results are similar when analyzing the incidence of HIV, hepatitis, and syphilis.²⁸ Inadequate infrastructure²⁹ and lack of space due to institutions operating beyond their capacity adds another complication that makes isolation of the sick very difficult.



III. An Urgent New Challenge: Latin American Prisons and Covid-19

All of the aforementioned conditions are common in the region and facilitate the spread of disease behind bars. In addition, prisons suffer from generally closed and poorly ventilated spaces that make them fertile ground for outbreaks of infection. It is therefore no surprise that viral epidemics have historically represented a threat in prison settings.³⁰ In the case of the Covid-19 pandemic, the two main prevention measures recommended for the general population are handwashing and social distancing. However, these necessary measures cannot be effectively instituted under the endemic overcrowding and unsanitary conditions suffered by most Latin American prisons. Water is scarce in many prisons in the region and even basic hygiene products such as alcohol and hand sanitizer have traditionally been banned from prisons for security reasons.

Adding to these challenges, people deprived of liberty with Covid-19 symptoms may avoid seeking medical attention for fear of being placed in isolation. Isolation is seen by prisoners as a form of punitive solitary confinement.³¹ As if this were not enough, according to the IADB, around 90,000 persons deprived of liberty in Latin America are over the age of 65, constituting the most vulnerable age group for contacting the virus.³² Older people in prisons also tend to suffer more frequently from chronic health conditions like hypertension, asthma, and diabetes that increase the risk of serious complications from contracting Covid-19.³³

Rapid transmission within prisons can have an amplifying effect, affecting countries' ability to control Covid-19 infection in the general population if strong prevention and control measures, adequate testing, treatment and care are not implemented.

1. Covid-19 Inside and Outside the Prison Walls

Prisons during the Covid-19 pandemic also represent a public health risk beyond their walls. Physical and mental illness inside prisons can become a burden on the public health-care system.

Prisons are also subject to a constant flow of people. Even when family visits and prisoners' temporary day or night releases are suspended, prison officers and other staff are constantly oscillating between prisons and their communities,³⁴ which may pose significant health risks for the wider community. As stated by the WHO, rapid transmission within prisons can have an amplifying effect, affecting countries' ability to control Covid-19 infection in the general population if strong prevention and control measures, adequate testing, treatment and care are not implemented in prisons and other places of detention.³⁵

2. Initial Impact of Covid-19 in Prisons

Covid-19's impact in Latin American prisons is difficult to assess. As the IACHR has pointed out, there has been a "failure to gather and report accurate data concerning the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic in the various prison systems."36 Countries have also varied in their degree and frequency of testing in prisons.37 Despite this, rough numbers indicate the severity of the pandemic's impact. By mid-August, an estimated 138,522 prisoners had tested positive for Covid-19 and at least 1,504 had died of complications linked to the virus in Latin America.38 As to specific countries, between mid-March and mid-July 2020, Argentina reported 801 total Covid-19 cases in prisons.³⁹ In Chile, 1,663 confirmed Covid-19 cases had been reported among prisoners and prison staff as of June 26, 2020 and of the 746 prisoners infected with Covid-19, seven had died. 40 In Colombia, at least 3,194 total cases had been registered in the national prison system as of August 5, 2020, with 2,964 of those being among the prison population and the rest among prison staff.41 In Panama, 2,177 total positive cases had been reported as of October 29, 2020, with 2,124 prisoners recovered and six dead.42 The IACHR has warned generally "that actual figures could be significantly higher," given the lack of accurate data.43

3. Pandemic Related Surges in Violence

Since the early stages of Covid-19, violent uprisings related to the pandemic have sprung up in prisons across the region. According to the IACHR, riots have occurred as a form of protest against overcrowding and the lack of hygiene and personal protective equipment available to prevent Covid-19 transmission.⁴⁴ On March 16, 2020, the state of São Paulo announced that around 1,000 prisoners escaped following

riots in several prisons. 45 Brazilian troops were deployed for the recapture, leading to violent confrontations.⁴⁶ On March 18, 2020, there was a massive escape of 84 prisoners in Venezuela, with reportedly ten being killed in the recapture efforts. 47 On March 19, 2020, a riot broke out in the San Roque prison in El Salvador, where prisoners demanded better health care following the first known positive case of Covid-19.48 On March 21, 2020, at least 23 prisoners were killed and more than 80 were injured in La Modelo prison in Bogotá, Colombia, amidst a widespread uprising across various prison units denouncing the lack of preventive measures against Covid-19.49 Similarly, in Trujillo, Peru, prisoners mutinied, resulting in 31 inmates injured. Prisoners were demanding better conditions in the face of the pandemic and were protesting the lack of food.⁵⁰ Moreover, in late March 2020, prisons in Santa Fe, Argentina, experienced riots against the overcrowding situation and demanding more preventive measures in the face of the pandemic.51 These riots resulted in five prisoners being killed as well as another dozen wounded.52 In May in Venezuela, prisoners of Los Llanos prison rioted against conditions in the center and the prohibition of visits to stop Covid-19 propagation.53

The confrontation reportedly resulted in 47 deaths and 75 persons wounded,⁵⁴ including the director of the prison, who was stabbed in the back.⁵⁵

Many Latin American prisons have historically experienced high levels of violence, with cases of prisoners themselves organizing criminal acts from inside the prison and gaining control over internal prison security.⁵⁶ Therefore, the riots, escapes, injuries and deaths related to Covid-19 are tragically unsurprising, though no less concerning. Some have argued that the Covid-19 pandemic increases the risk of "criminal opportunism,"57 efforts by criminal organizations to leverage the pandemic for concessions from prison authorities. Still, the fact remains that prisons in the region have been put under heightened pressure and tension due to fear, uncertainty and poor communication between authorities and those detained.58 The combination of isolation in inhumane conditions, regular violations of fundamental human rights and the threat posed by the pandemic "are a dangerous recipe for acts of aggression and violent prison uprisings."59 Ineffective management of the crisis by authorities has broad human rights, health, and security implications for the region.60



Photo credit: SEDH / Gobierno de la República de Honduras / CC BY 2.0



IV. Covid-19 and the Prison Policy Response in Latin America

Even before the Covid-19 pandemic, the unsanitary, underfunded and overcrowded prison systems for which Latin America is notorious lacked the capacity, or the will, to implement even some of the most basic health prevention measures. However, since it became clear that the Covid-19 pandemic would not discriminate across borders or prison walls and given the ample and consistent advice from international organizations, authorities across Latin America were forced to mobilize, albeit to different degrees and speeds, to try to avoid a foreseeable health and humanitarian disaster in their nations' prisons.

1. Recommendations of International Human Rights Bodies

In the midst of this urgent panorama, international bodies and experts gave prison authorities around the globe ample and detailed guidelines that reflected a general consensus on health, sanitary and other policy measures that needed to be prioritized.⁶¹ In addition to the frontline sanitary measures—hygiene, handwashing, adequate personal protective equipment, and, when required, quarantine and isolation—as well as the importance of providing accurate and complete information to people deprived of liberty and alternatives to guarantee their right to communication, the recommendations all emphasized the reduction of prison overcrowding.

Since it became clear that the
Covid-19 pandemic would not
discriminate across borders or
prison walls, authorities across Latin
America were forced to mobilize
to try to avoid a forseeable health
and humanitarian disaster in their
nations' prisons.

Michelle Bachelet, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, called for urgent action in March 2020 to prevent Covid-19 "rampaging through places of detention," emphasizing the need to reduce the number of people in detention.62 The UN's SPT also recommended taking measures to reduce prison populations "by implementing schemes of early, provisional or temporary release for those detainees for whom it is safe to do so."63 Moreover, the WHO pointed to the need for the "limitation of persons in pre-trial detention and implementation of non-custodial measures" to reduce the risk of spreading the virus in prisons. 64 The IACHR urged States in the Americas to reduce overcrowding as a necessary measure to contain the pandemic and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights emphasized the need for rational and orderly alternative measures to the deprivation of liberty. 65 The recommendations made it clear that States needed to implement strict health and control measures just as they would for the general population, but that in the context of prisons, these would likely be insufficient at best because of overcrowding and the other systemic challenges already mentioned. In order to prevent potentially catastrophic consequences in prisons (and beyond), States would have to take measures, some very basic, others more difficult, that were long overdue.

2. Policy Responses to Address Critical Sanitation Deficiencies

National authorities and prison systems in the region had to respond to the pandemic first and foremost by addressing obvious and critical sanitation deficiencies. Countries issued protocols and guidelines for the prevention and management of Covid-19 that emphasized measures to improve basic hygiene.66 In Honduras, the Secretary of Health guidelines called for complete cleaning and disinfection of common areas and entrances, as well as the necessary provision of necessary cleaning supplies.⁶⁷ In Colombia, the Ministry of Health and Social Protection highlighted the importance to train and educate prisoners and prison staff on hygiene protocols, including good cough etiquette, thorough and regular hand washing, and avoiding sharing of materials or touching the eyes, nose, and mouth.68 Mexico also planned a wide dissemination campaign for its federal prisons to promote prevention and hygiene measures that involved the prison population, guards, authorities, and family members. 69

Nations in the region have also attempted to address chronic sanitary deficiencies in prisons by increasing access to critical health needs. In Peru, the government informed that water, electricity, and food rations were increased, and sanitary services and drainage systems were given maintenance.⁷⁰ In Panama, the Minister of Government enacted a three-phase plan to combat potable water shortages in prisons. This plan

consists of enabling new tanks for transportation, opening new wells and taking surplus water from other prisons to those most in need.⁷¹ In Paraguay, Panama, and Chile, the prison systems teamed up with their governments' Ministry of Health to protect the prison population from contracting influenza.⁷² Governments have also received donations from international organizations or through local charity.⁷³

Some countries also involved their prison populations in the manufacturing of sanitary supplies to benefit prisons as well as society-at-large. In Brazil, women in detention manufactured face masks for prison and security officials.74 The secretary of Brazil's prison system championed these efforts as a way to help society with urgent pandemic equipment needs.75 In Paraguay, persons deprived of liberty partnered with a local trading company to manufacture masks, and as of April 15, 2020 roughly 3,500 masks were produced daily.76 Paraguay's prison system director described this partnership as an excellent opportunity to provide prisoners with work while also positively contributing to society's well-being.77 In Peru, as part of the program "Productive prisons", inmates produced for sale masks with traditional Cusco textile designs. 78 In Guatemala, a former gang member in prison producing masks for front-line public servants was quoted as saying that "in addition to helping Guatemala, I am helping myself."79

3. Policy Responses to Facilitate Safe Communication with the Outside World

As soon as the first cases of Covid-19 reached Latin America, governments rushed to restrict or eliminate prison visits to help mitigate disease transmission. In Latin American prisons, due to some of the systemic weaknesses already mentioned, visits not only constitute the principal way to communicate and maintain contact with family, they are instrumental to the rehabilitation process and an important source of food, basic hygiene and health supplies.⁸⁰ The suspension of visits due to Covid-19 threatened to bring a whole new set of challenges, also related to mental health and the potential eruption of tension and violence that, as mentioned above, could even turn deadly.

Against this backdrop, several prison systems in Latin America turned to technology as a way to connect prisoners with the outside world, some in ways that had never been attempted before. In Argentina, the Prison Ombudsman at the federal level declared telephone communication with family as fundamentally important, especially during the pandemic, and highlighted the need for all people deprived of liberty to be able to receive phone calls in their respective living sectors in addition to the videoconferencing opportunities that had already been established.

81 In Paraguay, the Director

of the Specialized Unit for Information and Communication Technologies explained that persons deprived of liberty may now feel accompanied by their relatives during the national quarantine through the use of technology.⁸² In Guatemala, the General Directorate of the Prison System indicated that video conference calls would be implemented to avoid riots and other violent instances.⁸³

In an unprecedented move, the Criminal Court of Cassation of Buenos Aires province authorized all of the province's prisons to allow use of cell phones so prisoners could maintain contact with their families while visits remained restricted. Reports in June 2020 from the province's Minister of Justice and Human Rights indicated that roughly 22,000 prisoners had registered cell phones since the Court's authorization. At the same time, it was made clear that restrictions would be in place to prevent potential criminal activity.

Restrictions in prisons due to the pandemic have also meant the end of many educational and outreach services for those deprived of liberty. These services can be critical for the prison population, both in rehabilitation and mental health efforts. In Chile, the Gendarmerie collaborated with the Universidad Católica de la Santisima Concepcion to allow 150 prisoners to remotely access cultural activities. Similarly, prisons in Argentina partnered with the Universidad Nacional Villa Maria to offer a variety of remote artistic courses, such as theater, chorus, and a literary workshop for prisoners.

The suspension of visits due to Covid-19 threatened to bring a whole new set of challenges, also related to mental health and the potential eruption of tension and violence that could even turn deadly.



4. Policy Responses to Reduce Prison Overcrowding

Policy responses related to sanitation and technology are by no means easy or inexpensive to implement. However, they are much less controversial and complex than measures to reduce prison population, which are arguably the most important in the context of prisons and Covid-19 (see section IV.1 above). For decades, international organizations, human rights advocates and criminal justice experts pushed governments to implement policies to reduce the alarming levels of overcrowding in Latin America. Yet, the region has yet to see coherent, consistent, and effective efforts in this regard. For this reason, it was encouraging, and almost promising, to see the efforts taken by some nations at the beginning of the pandemic to reduce overcrowding.

Since March 2020, various countries in Latin America, through their judiciary, legislative, and/or executive branches, started processes aimed at reducing their prison populations. ⁹⁰ These initiatives took various forms, including presidential pardons, executive decrees, emergency legislation, and directives from justice officials. Following the guidelines from international bodies, which recognize that there are different degrees and types of vulnerability among the prison population⁹¹ and that there are also important safety and security considerations, ⁹² most of the prison release efforts

Policy responses related to sanitation and technology are by no means easy or inexpensive to implement. However, they are much less controversial and complex than measures to reduce prison population, which are arguably the most important in the context of prisons and Covid-19.

focused on a small fraction of the total prison population: those who are most vulnerable to contracting the disease or those who have not committed serious crimes and have served most of their sentence. The remainder of this section summarizes several national initiatives adopted with the aim of reducing prison populations as a response to the pandemic. It is followed by an evaluation of the impact of these measures, and a summary of some legal and practical challenges that to some extent may have limited the effectiveness of such measures.

i. Judicial Measures

Brazil

Brazil's judiciary was among the first in the region to take actions towards the reduction of the country's prison population. On March 17, 2020, the National Justice Council issued extensive recommendations to federal judges aimed at reducing the prison population by adopting alternative measures.93 The recommendations included reviewing pretrial detention cases for those in overcrowded conditions, those who had exceeded 90 days in detention or those related to non-violent crimes, as well as early release, house arrest or alternative socio-educational measures for pregnant or breastfeeding women, minors, and the elderly, among other risk groups.94 Even before these recommendations were issued, there had already been similar responses at the state level in Brazil, in particular in the State of Minas Gerais. On March 16, 2020, the Justice Tribunal recommended house arrest for those in open and semi-open regimes and for those detained for not having paid alimony, as well as a review of pre-trial measures and an evaluation of alternatives to deprivation of liberty for those facing higher risk, such as persons over 60 and diabetics.95

Argentina

In Argentina, courts at both the federal and state levels called on relevant judicial actors to adopt measures addressing overcrowding in the country's prisons. ⁹⁶ The President of the Supreme Court of Justice of the Province of Buenos Aires established in a March 25, 2020 resolution that it was the responsibility of the competent magistrates to evaluate and discern the adoption of alternative or mitigating measures in favor of the most vulnerable persons deprived of liberty in the context of Covid-19. ⁹⁷ In early April, the Federal Chamber of Criminal Cassation shared with the judges in its jurisdiction the recommendations of the IACHR regarding Covid-19 in the prison context, ⁹⁸ including addressing overcrowding, reevaluating cases of pretrial detentions and evaluating the possibility of adopting alternative measures such as early

release and house arrest.⁹⁹ On April 13, 2020, the Federal Chamber issued additional guidelines regarding applicable alternative measures.¹⁰⁰ The Federal Chamber recommended prioritizing, among others, people who have committed non-violent crimes who are in pre-trail detention or close to serving their sentence, pregnant women and persons with higher health risks, such as the elderly and persons with disabilities.¹⁰¹ The Court also emphasized "extreme prudence" for the application of these provisions in cases of serious crimes.¹⁰²

Costa Rica

In Costa Rica, starting in early April, sentencing judges issued different corrective measures calling for the swift relocation or removal of prisoners suffering from preexisting conditions.103 According to one judicial order, due to humanitarian reasons, prison authorities had to carry out evaluations of persons deprived of liberty whose health was at risk according to the Ministry of Health guidelines, and, consequently, the National Institute of Criminology had to expeditiously resolve each recommendation of relocation or release. 104 Based on the order, the Ministry of Justice issued instructions as to who qualified for release: those who were close to the end of their sentence and did not imply a risk to themselves or a third party, those suffering from diseases including chronic kidney failure, heart disease, autoimmune diseases, lung disease, cancer patients, multiple sclerosis and immunosuppressed patients, pregnant women or those with babies in intensive care and people over 65 years of age. 105 In addition to medical criteria, the Ministry determined that viable support outside prisons (understood as support from families or others) to those persons deprived of liberty that qualify for release would be "indispensable." 106

Ecuador

In Ecuador, the National Court of Justice, making reference to the IACHR's recommendations, exhorted judges in the country to privilege non-custodial precautionary measures, especially in the case of minors and women.¹⁰⁷

Dominican Republic

In the Dominican Republic, it was the Attorney General who instructed prosecutors to request from judges, with urgency, alternative custodial measures for persons over the age of 60 and those with chronic or terminal illnesses. ¹⁰⁸ Excluded from the instruction were those who committed serious crimes of gender, sexual, or domestic violence or drug trafficking, among others. ¹⁰⁹

Following the guidelines from international bodies, most of the prison release efforts focused on a small fraction of the total prison population: those who are most vulnerable to contracting the disease or those who have not committed serious crimes and have served most of their sentence.

ii. Legislative Measures

Chile

In Chile, on April 17, 2020, the government passed a law commuting prison sentences to house arrests with the objective of preventing the spread of coronavirus in prisons. 110 The general commutative pardon only applies to a select portion of the prison population-to balance the objectives of reducing the prison population size and ensuring the safety of society at large- including men over the age of 60, women over the age of 55, women who are pregnant or have a child under 2, and those who are serving night incarceration sentences.111 Only those who comply with strict sentencing requirements, for example, having served at least half their sentence and having a remaining 36 months or less of their remaining term to serve, are eligible for this pardon. 112 President Piñera clarified that the General Commutative Pardon Act does not confer impunity from criminal responsibility; these pardons were merely issued as a means to modify or substitute existing prison sentences with alternative home confinement. 113 Additionally, the act will not apply to those incarcerated for serious crimes, including but not limited to torture, rape, femicide, migrant smuggling, terrorism, or crimes against humanity. 114 These exclusions are meant to respect the victims of these crimes, as expressed by President Piñera at a press conference: "the main commitment of our Government and State will always be the victims of crime, but we also need to treat people deprived of their liberty humanely and protect their health and lives."115



Mexico

Like Chile, Mexico also took legislative measures as a response to Covid-19 and on April 20, 2020, the General Congress of Mexican States passed an Amnesty Law intended to reduce prison overcrowding by granting amnesty to persons serving pre-trial detention or sentences at the federal system. 116 The law is clear that only those who are first-offenders may qualify, and only certain crimes: abortion, drug-related, robbery, and sedition. 117 In the case of indigenous people, any crime could qualify if the judicial proceeding did not follow due process or if the right to an interpreter was violated. 118 Similar to Chile, the Mexican law also excludes those committed for serious crimes. 119 As to the process to request amnesty, the law established that a special commission would be created by the Executive branch to evaluate each case, that the request would have to be made by the person deprived of liberty, a family member or a public human rights organization, and that the commission would have up to four months to make its determination. 120

Honduras

In Honduras, the National Congress issued Decree No. 36-2020, which reformed the Criminal Procedure Code, on June 2, 2020. 121 The decree cited in its introduction the recommendations issued by the international bodies of human rights protection, particularly those of the IACHR that urged states to adopt measures to guarantee the health and safety of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the context of Covid-19, especially those to reduce overcrowding. 122 Thus, the Honduran penal code reform

While there is information about the initial policy measures taken in Latin America with the aim of reducing prison populations, the actual implementation process and results from such measures are difficult to assess.

allowed for persons detained who have not yet been convicted of a crime or are in vulnerable health groups to obtain house arrest during the pandemic. Eligibility for alternate pre-trial detention was not granted to those accused of crimes linked to drug trafficking, rape, arms trafficking, or who are related to criminal groups known as maras or pandillas.¹²³

iii. Executive Branch Measures

Colombia

In Colombia, in the context of the national emergency declared due to the pandemic, the instrument to facilitate prison population reduction was an Executive legislative decree, which has the force of law. Legislative Decree No. 546 of April 14, 2020 cited the recommendations by the IACHR, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the WHO, stating that it was clear that the country's current overcrowding situation required urgent and immediate action. 124 The decree allows house arrest for persons over 60, pregnant women, those with underlying diseases, persons with disabilities, those convicted for sentences under 5 years, and those who have served 40 percent of their sentence, among others. 125 The Colombian decree also specifically excludes a series of crimes including forced disappearance and crimes against humanity. 126

Bolivia

In Bolivia, the interim government issued a presidential decree on May 4, which had to be previously approved by the Legislative Assembly, providing the benefit of amnesty (applying to pretrial detainees) or pardon (applying to those convicted) for humanitarian reasons in the context of the national health emergency. 127 This decree references the recommendations issued by the WHO on preventive health measures and the IACHR on guidance for mitigating the spread of the virus in prison systems, as considerations for the reform. 128 Presidential Decree N°4226 established that people deprived of liberty meeting the following qualifications may qualify for amnesty or pardon: those over the age of 58, with advanced or terminal chronic disease, with severe or serious disabilities, pregnant or lactating women and those who have under their sole care one or more sons or daughters under the age of six. 129 The benefits do not apply to repeat offenders and to those who are being investigated or have been convicted for a series of crimes, including homicide, rape, sexual assault against children, arms smuggling, terrorism and genocide. In order to qualify, persons deprived of liberty must present an application to the public defender, the prison system must provide a report for the evaluation, and the judge must make the final decision. 130

Panama

In Panama, the Ministry of Government has issued a number of decrees through which the President grants early releases to persons deprived of liberty with chronic illnesses, above the age of 60, or who have served two-thirds of their sentences and complied with good practices. ¹³¹ In Panama, presidential grants of early release occur periodically in the country regardless of pressing health crises, but the recent decrees mention the national emergency as reasoning for releases. ¹³²

Peru

In Peru, on April 23, 2020, the government issued Executive Decree No. 004-2020-JUS, which allows for the evaluation and proposal for releases granted by the President to benefit a prioritized group of inmates during the health emergency due to Covid-19.¹³³ This decree permits for releases through common presidential pardons as well as due to humanitarian reasons, and also commutations of sentences.¹³⁴ To qualify for a pardon based on humanitarian reasons, the person would have to suffer from a chronic disease that would increase the vulnerability to Covid-19 contagion.¹³⁵ For common pardons or commutation of sentence, the decree lists several conditions, including: being a mother with her child in prison, being pregnant, having six months left to complete the sentence imposed, and being over 60 years old.¹³⁶

Nicaragua

Nicaragua, unlike the rest of the countries reviewed here, has not had an official policy response related to prisons releases during the pandemic, but, like Panama, has relied on executive powers to release persons deprived of liberty. 137 On May 13, the government granted 2,815 prisoners the legal benefit of family coexistence to release them from prison, citing Mother's Day as the motivation. 138 The news regarding the release did not mention Covid-19 but did emphasize the release of elderly prisoners with chronic illnesses. 139 These releases took place amid increased complaints of Covid-19 transmission in prisons, complaints by the families of political prisoners, and denunciations made by a top United States official. 140

5. Results of Measures to Reduce the Prison Population

While there is information about the initial policy measures taken in Latin America with the aim of reducing prison populations as described above, the actual implementation process and results from such measures are difficult to

A preliminary conclusion is that, in the early stages of the pandemic, no country except Nicaragua, whose government never attributed its mass releases to the pandemic, released more than 10 percent of its prison population in response to Covid-19.

assess. Very few countries have released specific and updated information about the number of persons deprived of liberty who have been released on humanitarian reasons due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The section that follows attempts to present some preliminary and approximate results of the efforts in Latin America to reduce prison populations.

Brazil

In Brazil, according to numerous non-official sources, around 30,000 prisoners were released in the first months of the Covid-19 pandemic.¹⁴¹ In the country with the world's third largest prison population (after the United States and China), with roughly 750,000 people deprived of liberty,¹⁴² this would mean that around 4 percent of its population was released. However, it is not clear that this figure is significantly higher than the typical release rate in a non-pandemic context.¹⁴³ Additionally, there have been suspensions in some of the release processes that may affect the total estimated figures. For example, in the state of São Paulo in late March, it was reported that prison authorities stopped the temporary release of thousands of prisoners stating that releasing more than 34,000 persons could elevate the potential of spreading the new coronavirus in a vulnerable population.¹⁴⁴

Argentina

In Argentina, according to data published by the Prison Ombudsman's National office, at least 2,185 prisoners were released between March 12 and May 31, 2020 in the federal prison system. The information is not broken down to explain how many of those releases are related to the pandemic but it does indicate that only 13 percent of



The question of why so few prisoners were released from Latin American prisons despite the numerous and diverse efforts across the region to reduce overcrowding needs to be further studied.

the releases are due to completion of sentence. ¹⁴⁶ It also concludes that the higher number of releases during the pandemic months is due to the "noticeable increase" of house arrests: between March and May 2020 there were 735 house arrests granted compared to 62 in the same period in 2018. ¹⁴⁷ At the provincial level, the number of releases are less clear but unofficial sources mention that by the end of April there had been around 800 releases in Buenos Aires province. ¹⁴⁸ With a total prison population of around 103,000, ¹⁴⁹ numbers available indicate that between 2 percent and 3 percent of the population may have been released in Argentina between March and May 2020.

Chile

In Chile, the General Commutative Pardon Act benefited around 1,860 persons according to preliminary official statistics released by the national prison service at the end of June 2020. With around 39,000 prisoners nationally, this likely represented the release of around 5 percent of Chile's prison population. 151

Mexico

In Mexico, according to a study on the effects of coronavirus in the region's prisons, ¹⁵² as of June 1, approximately 3,400 prisoners had been released in the context of Covid-19, with over 2,500 in the state of Mexico. ¹⁵³ Of these, the majority were persons over 65 or with particular health issues, with very few pregnant women or women living with children in prisons

benefitting from early release. 154 With a prison population of over 200,000, these releases related to Covid-19 constitute less than 2 percent of the total incarcerated population.

Panama

In Panama, according to official government data, as of August 4, 2020, 273 prisoners benefited from the sentence reduction by the Executive decree outlined previously. 155 With around 18,000 prisoners, this constitutes around 1.5 percent of its prison population. Judges have also ordered house arrests as a measure during the pandemic, 156 but those numbers are not included in the official statistics published by the prison system. 157

Peru

In Peru, according to a study on the effects of coronavirus in the region's prisons, as of June 2020, approximately 1,355 prisoners had been released in the context of Covid-19, compared to the 10,000 that had been projected at the beginning of April. With a prison population of around 96,000, 159 these releases related to Covid-19 constitute less than 2 percent of the total incarcerated population.

Colombia

According to statements by the Colombian Minister of Justice in early June 2020, around 6,000 persons had been released from prison as part of the measures to prevent Covid-19 contagion in prisons—1,000 under Legislative Decree No. 546¹⁶⁰ and 5,000 due to "ordinary measures." This would constitute around 5 percent of Colombia's prison population, which before the pandemic was around 120,000. According to official statistics, the total prison population before the pandemic, in February 2020, was 122,820 prisoners, and it decreased to 102,534 in August 2020. There was also an increase of around 5,700 house arrests in that same time period although it is not clear from the publicly available information how many of those were part of Covid-related measures.

Bolivia

In Bolivia, the Vice-Minister of Interior and Police, within the Ministry of Government, was reported stating in mid-May that around 2,000 prisoners would benefit from Presidential Decree 4226 that provided amnesty and pardons in the context of Covid-19.¹⁶⁵ However, according to non-official sources, the Vice-Minister had reported by July that 300 people had benefited from the decree.¹⁶⁶ With a prison population of around 19,000,¹⁶⁷ this would constitute less than 2 percent.

Honduras

In Honduras, multiple non-official sources have indicated that around 1,600 persons deprived of liberty had been released as of mid-June in the context of the pandemic. ¹⁶⁸ In a country with a total of 21,629 persons deprived of liberty, ¹⁶⁹ this would indicate that 7.4 percent of the population was released in that period. A spokesperson for the Supreme Court of Justice pointed out that 48 percent of those released were granted early release due to a plan to address overcrowding in the context of Covid-19.¹⁷⁰ Others were released due to terminal illnesses, completion of sentencing, or granted conditional liberty, among other considerations. ¹⁷¹

Nicaragua

Nicaragua has released around 6,000 prisoners between April and July of this year: 1,700 in April;¹⁷² 2,815 in May¹⁷³ and 1,605 in July.¹⁷⁴ As mentioned above, the Nicaraguan government has not stated that these releases have been made in the context of the Covid-19 pandemic; rather the government has emphasized special dates such as Easter and Mother's Day when announcing the releases. Moreover, the Nicaraguan Government has recently, and before the pandemic, carried out massive prison releases. 175 Still, the number of releases during the pandemic months is significant. With a total prison population of around 21,000¹⁷⁶, they may constitute around 20 percent. According to a regional study on the effects of coronavirus in prisons in Latin America, Nicaragua's releases during the pandemic are amongst the highest in the region, calculated in June 2020 at 10-15 percent. 177 It should be noted that, according to news media publications, none of the releases during the pandemic included political prisoners. 178

To sum up, from the limited information available for the countries reviewed for this paper, a preliminary conclusion is that, in the early stages of the pandemic, no country except Nicaragua, whose government never attributed its massive releases to the pandemic, released more than 10 percent of its prison population in response to Covid-19 and most were actually less than 5 percent. The conclusions from the June 2020 regional study "The Effects of Coronavirus in Prisons in Latin America" conducted by the Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SOCLA) and the Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia UNTREF (CELIV) similarly point to the fact that although two out of every three prison systems in Latin America (roughly 69.2 percent) adopted measures to deal with overcrowding in prisons, including early release or house arrest, 179 less than 2 percent of incarcerated people in the region had obtained any release benefit. 180

While international organizations, human rights acitivists, and criminal justice experts recommended prison releases in the context of the pandemic, there was also vocal opposition from various fronts.

The question of why so few prisoners were released from Latin American prisons despite the numerous and diverse efforts across the region to reduce overcrowding needs to be further studied. However, in addition to the ever-present challenge of political will, there are some important factors worth mentioning that may have delayed and challenged efforts to reduce overcrowding and which merit analysis for any future efforts at prison reform.

6. Challenges to Efforts to Reduce Prison Overcrowding

i. Public opposition to prisoner releases and challenges in courts

One challenge that is perhaps obvious, and at the same time unavoidable, is the unpopularity of mass prisoner releases. While on the one hand there were international organizations, human rights activists and criminal justice experts recommending prison releases in the context of the pandemic, there was also vocal opposition coming from various fronts, including defenders of victims' rights and those who saw this as a challenge to public security. Is In some countries, this led to legal challenges in courts with successful results.

After a civil association for victims' rights filed an amparo in April 2020,182 the Argentine Federal Chamber of Criminal Cassation's recommendations and guidelines regarding prisoner release during the pandemic183 were declared unconstitutional by a lower court judge who reasoned that "the independence of the judge is absolute."184 Similarly, the Buenos Aires Supreme Court (SCBA) revoked a habeas corpus that allowed house arrest during the pandemic for persons detained for minor offenses who exhibited higher health risks,185 stating that it is up to individual judicial bodies to evaluate the requests from the persons deprived of liberty while considering the rights of victims.186



In Brazil, opposition to prison release efforts came from judges as well as from the Ministry of Justice. Then-Minister of Justice made statements against the National Justice Council recommendations to release prisoners in high-risk groups, in pretrial detention, or those convicted of non-violent crimes. Properties a Coording to the report published by the Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana, since there was no centralized policy for releases, decisions were made at the local level and "some judges followed the criticism of the then-Minister." Properties For example, a judge denied a house arrest grant, reasoning that of the approximately 7,780,000,000 inhabitants on Earth, only the three occupants of the international space station were not subject to contamination by the notorious coronavirus.

ii. Concerns over Impunity

In several Latin American countries, there were also concerns expressed by civil society, human rights advocates, policymakers and others that those convicted for crimes against humanity and other human rights abuses could take advantage of the extraordinary circumstances created by the pandemic to be released from prison. ¹⁹⁰ In Guatemala, for example, civil society organizations denounced that a health crisis was being used to facilitate impunity both in adjudicated cases and in ongoing processes involving crimes against humanity. ¹⁹¹

There was also the issue that requests from high-profile prisoners responsible for very serious crimes, and who benefited from privileged living and sanitary conditions compared to the general prison population, 192 took focus and time away from the principal reason for prison releases, which, as already explained above, is overcrowding. In Chile, when the Constitutional Court rejected a request for unconstitutionality pushed by senators who alleged that the

Life post-prison is an important consideration under normal conditions, one that becomes more salient as release efforts increased in the early stages of the pandemic.

Commutative Pardon Act¹⁹³ was discriminatory because it excluded serious human rights crimes, a concurring opinion drew attention to the timing of this legal action, stating that it suspended "the entry into force and execution of the pardon law for days and eventually valuable weeks, subtracting days needed to save lives." ¹⁹⁴ In addition to concerns regarding impunity for serious human rights crimes, there were also arguments put forth, for example in Honduras, that politicians were taking advantage of the opportunity created by the pandemic to pass controversial reforms to protect former officials from facing corruption or money laundering charges. ¹⁹⁵

iii. Questions as to whether extraordinary measures passed were actually effective

In June 2020, the then-Minister of Justice of Colombia was reported to have said that Decree Law 546 of 2020¹⁹⁶ presented several exclusions and exceptions and that more prisoners had been released through the ordinary measures than through the Decree passed due to the pandemic.¹⁹⁷ An analysis of whether the decree had worked to reduce overcrowding concluded, similarly, that there were so many exclusions, even more than in ordinary laws, that the measure was ineffective.¹⁹⁸ In Bolivia, the World Organization Against Torture expressed concern that the Presidential Decree of Amnesty and Pardon¹⁹⁹ had "proven completely inefficient to reduce the concerning levels of overcrowding in Bolivian prisons" and requested that the decree be modified to allow for more flexibility.²⁰⁰

iv. Reintegration challenges

Life post-prison, with its related social and economic implications on the former prisoner and society in general, is an important consideration under normal conditions, one that becomes more salient as release efforts increased in the early stages of the pandemic. As mentioned, in Costa Rica, the Ministry of Justice decided that support to prisoners once they left prisons was an indispensable criterion for release.201 In at least one country, Chile, it was reported that one hundred prisoners rejected the general pardon in April 2020 and decided to remain in prison facilities rather than serve their remaining sentences under house arrest.²⁰² According to unofficial sources, some persons decided to remain in the prison system because they would have no home to return to upon leaving, and others preferred to stay because leaving prison would mean losing the jobs and benefits they have while in prison that may not be available otherwise.²⁰³ This example in Chile is indicative of a more complex issue common in the region, which is that without material, psychological and social support, whether it comes from family, the government, or not-for-profit organizations, former prisoners may have a very difficult time breaking the cycle of release and recidivism.204

V. Takeaways and Recommendations

Prisons everywhere too frequently become places where we try to hide society's and humanity's failures. The Covid-19 pandemic has opened a small window of opportunity for prison reform by increasing society's visibility (and hopefully empathy, too) for those behind bars. First, stay-at-home orders, lockdowns, and social distancing have allowed people to better understand the mental, physical, and emotional exhaustion of isolation. Second, the risk of Covid-19 transmission in confined settings has highlighted the vulnerability of prisons, not only because of their closed and unsanitary nature but also because they are overcrowded and house a large population with health concerns.

The human lives that have been lost in prisons in Latin America, whether due to Covid-19 or to related violence, should trigger reflection on the undeferrable need to rethink prison policy. The efforts of some countries in the region described in this paper, alongside the (albeit insufficient) results of these efforts, should provide valuable lessons for government authorities, policymakers, international human rights bodies, and advocates. Timing has never been as ripe for a more humane and sensible discussion about prison conditions and respect for the human rights of people deprived of liberty. Below we offer some key takeaways, recommendations, and a suggested agenda for future research and policymaking.

Takeaways and Recommendations:

1. Prison health is public health

The Covid-19 pandemic has underscored in vivid terms that prison health is public health and should be treated as such. Health is a human right and should extend to all people, without discrimination, including those who are incarcerated and who are therefore disproportionately vulnerable. Despite the porous borders between communities and prisons, the latter are often excluded from public health efforts and the right to health of prisoners is frequently disregarded. The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted that prison conditions in Latin America, such as overcrowding, limited access to hygiene products, poor ventilation, inadequate nutrition, and deteriorated infrastructure represent important challenges to public health. It has also emphasized the possible public health costs of over-incarceration.

In the region, some governments responded to the threat of Covid-19 by implementing very basic and long overdue health and sanitation measures. Governments finally addressed chronic problems of water shortages, increased food ratios,

The Covid-19 pandemic has underscored in vivid terms that prison health is public health and should be treated as such. Health is a human right and should extend to all people without discrimination.

and gave maintenance to sanitary and drainage systems. Cleaning supplies were distributed, spaces disinfected with the help of prisoners themselves, and vaccination programs strengthened. The importance of training and involving prisoners, personnel, and family members in prevention, was emphasized. Moving forward, both during and post-pandemic, governments across the region must include prisons as a major public health priority and address it using a human rights approach. Multiple challenges exist, such as lack of funding and human resources and public misperception about persons deprived of liberty. However, clarifying the connection between prisons and public health is an essential step in the right direction. There is, in fact, a public health case for prison and criminal justice reform.

2. States can and should mobilize to improve prison conditions

Faced with the imminent and grave threat that Covid-19 presented for the prison population and beyond, several countries in the region pushed for initiatives to address some of the vulnerabilities in their prison systems. As the then-Chairman of the SPT, Sir Malcolm Evans, described in his 2020 address to the United Nations General Assembly, referring to nations across the globe: "[W]e have seen States being able to do some positive things which they had previously said were impossible – such as dramatically reducing prison populations in order to reduce overcrowding, allowing phones and tablets in prisons in order to enhance communications with the outside world, for example."²⁰⁵

In Latin America, the initiatives to reduce overcrowding were diverse and came from all three branches of government. In an area in which prison administrators are too frequently left alone, the involvement of the legislative and judiciary branches in the search for viable responses to the pandemic in the prison context has been refreshing. The efforts to



reduce overcrowding through legislation, judicial guidelines, or executive orders were unprecedented and the allowance of technology to compensate for the lack of human contact was innovative. The results and impact of the different measures taken by several nations in Latin America, both in terms of Covid-19 transmission prevention and in terms of overcrowding reduction, are at best, largely unknown, and at worst, not positive. However, they deserve further study and analysis precisely because they were extraordinary in many ways.

3. Countries need to seriously rethink the importance of reducing prison overcrowding

The Covid-19 pandemic highlighted what has been reiterated by criminal justice and human rights experts – overcrowding not only violates the rights of persons deprived of liberty but is also extremely dangerous from a public health perspective. Covid-19 serves as a wake-up call for governments in the region to reconsider the laws, policies, and practices that have led to such high levels of overcrowding and inhumane prisons in the first place. It should also encourage analysis and lessons learned from the recent experience of countries attempting to reduce prison population during the pandemic.

Covid-19 should be a convincing reminder to government authorities and society in general that deprivation of liberty should be used only as a matter of last resort, in contrast to the current practice in Latin America. This means that any criminal justice reform that seeks to reduce prison population should have at its core those people who should not be in prison in the first place and those who have not been convicted of a crime. Vulnerable populations such as the elderly, children, pregnant women, and those in ill physical or mental health, should also be given due regard.

Covid-19 should be a convincing reminder to government authorities and society in general that deprivation of liberty should be used only as a matter of last resort, in contrast to the current practice in Latin America.

There are a variety of alternative measures that States can consider even before individuals enter the prison system, such as community service for non-violent offenders, rehabilitation for drug-users, educational opportunities for juveniles, restorative justice techniques, and therapeutic assistance. Options for sentenced prisoners who advance in their rehabilitation process through education, work, or other activities include nightly/weekend prison sentences and partial release to work or be at home with family. These opportunities also help prepare those deprived of liberty for the reintegration process. Also, similar to what several of the recent country initiatives included, States can consider early release for those above a certain age, who have completed most of their sentence, or who have abided by good behavior during their time in prison.

As the efforts of some countries in the region to release people from prison during the pandemic show:

- any programs that promote alternatives to prisons should acknowledge that society should be informed and receive sensible explanations as to the importance of these measures, since public perception can be key in shaping policy related to crime and security;
- alternatives to imprisonment should never be used to advance impunity for serious crimes such as human rights violations and public corruption;
- working to obtain adequate opportunities for former prisoners is vital to ensure a healthy transition back into the community and reduce recidivism rates; and
- constant information and data are required to design policies that are the most sustainable and effective.

4. Technology use should be expanded to complement important aspects of prison life

Crisis can and should spark innovation. Such has been the case of the prison systems in the region that attempted to mitigate the worst effects of the restrictions on contact with the outside world by using technology to provide alternative means of communication. During this pandemic, people everywhere have learned to use virtual means to communicate better with loved ones, study, work, and even exercise. These experiences also offer important lessons for places of deprivation of liberty. The right of people deprived of liberty to receive physical visits should continue to be respected both during and post-pandemic, but technology can aid tremendously in complementing the contacts that

prisoners have with family and friends. In the specific case of those persons deprived of liberty who do not receive visits because they are foreigners or because their families live too far away, technology can help build important bridges for them to be in touch with their outside world. Digital connections can also prove especially helpful during the pandemic because they can help ease tensions generated in the prison population due to lack of information.²⁰⁶

Technology can also be beneficial and should be explored to alleviate other collateral consequences of confinement, such as the lack of effective and sufficient educational and rehabilitation programs as well as inadequate medical attention. Using technological alternatives such as video-calling or virtual courses to connect prisoners with education and vocational materials could greatly enhance rehabilitation efforts in prisons. Prisons in the region that partnered with universities to offer cultural activities to inmates provide good practices that should be analyzed and possibly replicated. Similarly, the use of telemedicine can help treat prisoners who otherwise would not receive health care in prisons.

Of course, like other changes implemented during this pandemic that can far exceed the longevity of Covid-19, technology also comes with its challenges. For one, virtual calls, distance learning, and telemedicine can never replace in-person contact in the prison context. Persons deprived of liberty, many of whom have lived marginalized lives, benefit especially from human interaction. Separately, technology is costly. In addition to the resources that governments need to invest to offer technological alternatives in prisons, it may be difficult for family members of people deprived of liberty, given the significant levels of poverty amongst the prison population in Latin America, to have access to adequate equipment and internet to connect with their loved ones. Another concern from prison administrators regarding the use of technology to connect prisoners with the outside world is security. Hardware and other equipment can be vandalized and weaponized and cellular or digital connections have been used to coordinate criminal activity or to access pornography.

Policy makers and administrators need to be aware of all these considerations while at the same time acknowledging that with the pandemic, access to technology has become more essential than ever, outside and inside prisons. If leveraged correctly, and accompanied by thoughtful and innovative policies, technology can complement existing practices and greatly improve living conditions in prisons while also contributing to the rehabilitation process of those deprived of liberty.

During the pandemic, which called for closer scrutiny of the system, there has been a troubling lack of complete and updated data as well as underreporting from States regarding the impact of Covid-19 in prisons.

5. Greater transparency is needed about the impact of pandemic-related prison policies

Before the Covid-19 pandemic, several prison systems in the region were already marked by difficulty in the access to statistics and information and a lack of transparency. During the pandemic, which called for closer scrutiny of the system, there has been a troubling lack of complete and updated data as well as underreporting from States regarding the impact of Covid-19 in prisons.²⁰⁷ Similarly, most countries have not released publicly available information as to the impact of the different measures taken to alleviate Covid-19's impact in the prison context, including the number of prisoners released.²⁰⁸

Transparency and consistent flow of information are essential for better management and oversight practices required during times of crisis and also help alleviate possible tension and anxiety from family members and amongst prisoners. Also, governments should be accountable to their citizens regarding the results of the different measures they have adopted.

It is not too late for States to gather data about both the impact of the pandemic on the prison population and the impact of the implemented measures. Going forward, this information could help improve health in prisons and disease prevention as well as shape prison policy more generally.



Covid-19 has made glaringly clear a reality that should be a starting point for a new type of reform: prisons and society are intrinsically interdependent and face shared risks as well as responsibilities.

6. Further research is needed for policy design/making

For real transformation to take place, research and science need to be part of the solution. Even while we are still in the midst of the pandemic, a roadmap detailing necessary further research can help to ensure that we learn the right lessons from these difficult times. The knowledge acquired should then be used to design better public policies and build more effective prison systems that respect human rights. Below we offer a few suggestions for a research and policy agenda.

Further study and assessment of Covid-19 impact in prisons across the region. Accurate and updated information regarding Covid-19 cases in prisons, numbers of deaths, as well as types and frequency of testing can provide prison administrations with important tools to manage this and future crises better and faster. Additionally, public health experts, policy makers, criminal justice, and other relevant professionals can still benefit from access to such detailed data to make recommendations that can more effectively address the specific challenges faced by each country and the region as a whole.

Comparative analysis of the different measures taken by countries and their impact. It is essential that countries analyze the implementation process and results of their policy solutions enacted and recommended during the coronavirus pandemic and understand why they did not

have the expected outcome. The information should include, for example, numbers of prisoners who were released, the method that was used, and recidivism rates among the relevant population, which will be important for guiding future efforts and also for convincing the public this can be done safely. Comparisons should be made at the regional level to more effectively identify best practices and lessons learned.²⁰⁹ Due consideration should also be given to the differential impact that Covid-19 has had in particularly vulnerable groups within the general population deprived of liberty, such as women, children and the elderly.

Regional cooperation, solidarity and innovation will be key in assessing research and results as well as establishing policy going forward. There must be greater information sharing and cooperation between Latin American countries regarding the impact and risk of Covid-19 as well as for setting the priorities in the policy agenda. International bodies, such as the United Nations, specifically the Subcommittee on the Prevention of Torture, and regional bodies such as the IAHCR have an important role to play in identifying best practices and in providing advice to States. Other regional institutions such as the Inter-American Development Bank and more broadly the Organization of American States can help spearhead comparative research at the regional level and provide technical assistance to States.

VI. Conclusion

Covid-19 will undoubtedly continue to drive policy changes in crucial ways in the coming decades. This paper has made the case that Latin American prisons need to be part of this change. The timing and circumstances are present for a more humane and sensible discussion about prison conditions, respect for the human rights of people deprived of liberty and the urgent need to rethink prison policy. The policy decisions made during and in the wake of the pandemic may very well define prison and criminal justice policy in Latin America for the near future.210 Covid-19 has made glaringly clear a reality that should be the starting point for a new type of reform: prisons and society are intrinsically interdependent and face shared risks as well as responsibilities. If something as major and tragic as the current pandemic does not provoke a positive paradigm shift in the region's approach to people deprived of liberty, it is difficult to imagine that anything else in the near future will. After a year of so much tragedy, the lessons of the Covid-19 pandemic offer Latin American governments and societies a historic opportunity to reimagine their prison systems and their relationship with individuals deprived of their liberty.

ENDNOTES

- 1 In this paper, by "Latin America", we refer to the Spanish-speaking countries in the region and Brazil.
- 2 António Guterres, "We are all in this together: Human Rights COVID-19 Response and Recovery," United Nations, April 23, 2020, https://www.un.org/en/un-coronavirus-communications-team/we-are-all-together-human-rights-and-covid-19-response-and.
- The World Prison Population List is produced as part of the World Prison Brief project hosted by the Institute of Crime & Justice Policy Research (ICPR), at Birkbeck, University of London. The World Prison Population List complies and updates information about prison systems throughout the world, information such as prison population rates, the extent of pre-trial/remand imprisonment, and prison overcrowding among other indicators. To access the database: https://www.prisonstudies.org/research-publications?shs_term_node_tid_depth=27.
- The Inter-American Development Bank (IADB) issued a report titled "Las cárceles de América Latina y el Caribe ante la crisis sanitaria del COVID-19," by Nathalie Alvarado et al. in August 2020, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Lascarceles-de-America-Latina-y-el-Caribe-ante-la-crisis-sanitaria-del-COVID-19.pdf. The Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SO-CLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV) issued a report titled "The Effects of Coronavirus in Prisons in Latin America," by Marcelo Bergman, Fernando Cafferata, and Juan Ambrogi in June 2020, https://icpa.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/The-Effects-of-Coronavirus-in-Latin-America-EN.pdf. The Instituto Latinoamericano de las Naciones Unidas para la Prevención del Delito y el Tratamiento del Delincuente (ILANUD) issued a report titled "El Sistema Penitenciario ante la Encrucijada producto de la crisis provocada por el COVID-19" in April 2020, https://www.ilanud. or.cr/ilanud-informe-covid-19-y-prisiones/.
- For a recent summary on the general situation of Latin American prisons, see Inter-American Development Bank, "Dentro de las Prisiones de América Latina y el Caribe: una primera mirada al otro lado de las rejas," available at: https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Dentro_de_las_prisiones_de_América_Latina_y_el_Caribe_Una_primera_mirada_al_otro_lado_de_las_rejas.pdf.
- 6 Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "Reports on the Human Rights of Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas," Organization of American States, December 31, 2011, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/pdl/docs/pdf/PPL2011eng.pdf, 157.
- 7 Nathalie Alvarado and Viviana Vélez-Grajales, "Dentro de las prisiones de América Latina y el Caribe: Una primera mirada al otro lado de las rejas," Inter-American Development Bank, September 2019, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Dentro_de_las_prisiones_de_América_Latina_y_el_Caribe_Una_primera_mirada_al_otro_lado_de_las_rejas.pdf, 6. (Translation is ours.)
- 8 Ibid. The Inter-American Development Bank's calculation is for all 26 borrowing member countries, which includes, in addition to the Spanish and Portuguese-speaking countries, also English, Dutch, and French-speaking countries in Latin America and the Caribbean.
- 9 Nathalie Alvarado and Viviana Vélez-Grajales, "Dentro de las prisiones de América Latina y el Caribe: Una primera mirada al otro lado de las rejas," Inter-American Development Bank, September 2019, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Dentro_de_las_prisiones_de_América_Latina_y_el_Caribe_Una_primera_mirada_al_otro_lado_de_las_rejas.pdf, 6.
- 10 Roy Walmsley, "World Prison Population List (12th edition)," World Prison Brief, November 6, 2020, https://www.prisonstudies.org/sites/default/files/resources/downloads/wppl_12.pdf, 2.
- 11 Nathalie Alvarado and Viviana Vélez-Grajales, "Dentro de las prisiones de América Latina y el Caribe: Una primera mirada al otro lado de las rejas," Inter-American Development Bank, September 2019, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/

- Dentro_de_las_prisiones_de_América_Latina_y_el_Caribe_Una_primera_mirada_al_otro_lado_de_las_rejas.pdf, 6.
- 12 Roy Walmsley, "World Prison Population List (12th Edition)," World Prison Brief, November 6, 2020, https://www.prisonstudies.org/sites/default/files/resources/downloads/wppl_12.pdf, 2. 13
- Press Release: "IACHR concerned about specific risks faced by Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas during the COVID-19 pandemic," Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, September 9, 2020, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/212.asp.
- Press Release: "The IACHR urges States to guarantee the health and integrity of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic," Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, March 31, 2020, http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/066.asp.
- Nathalie Alvarado et al. "Las cárceles de América Latina y el Caribe ante la crisis sanitaria del COVID-19," Inter-American Development Bank, August, 2020, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Las-carceles-de-America-Latina-y-el-Caribe-ante-la-crisis-sanitaria-del-COVID-19.pdf, 5.
- 17 Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "Report on the Human Rights of Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas," Organization of American States, December 31, 2011, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/pdl/docs/pdf/PPL2011eng.pdf, para. 451.
- 18 Roy Walmsley, "World Pre-trial/Remand Imprisonment List (4th edition)," World Prison Brief, February 4, 2020, https://www.prisonstudies.org/sites/default/files/resources/downloads/world_pre-trial_list_4th_edn_final.pdf, 2. This list clarifies that the data cited is "since about 2000".
- 19 Ibid, 6-8.
- 20 Roy Walmsley, "World Pre-trial/Remand Imprisonment List (4th edition)," World Prison Brief, February 4, 2020, https://www.prisonstudies.org/sites/default/files/resources/downloads/world_pre-trial_list_4th_edn_final.pdf, 7.
- Press Release: "IACHR presents Report on Measures Aimed at Reducing the Use of Pretrial Detention," Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, September 7, 2017, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2017/136.asp.
- 22 United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), "United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners (the Nelson Mandela Rules)", United Nations, December 17, 2015, Resolution 70/175 Rule 24(1), https://www.unodc.org/documents/justice-and-prison-reform/Nelson_Mandela_Rules-E-ebook.pdf, 8. See also, UN Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, "Advice of the Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture to States Parties and National Preventive Mechanisms relating to the Coronavirus Pandemic," United Nations, March 25, 2020, https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/OPCAT/AdviceStatePartiesCoronavirusPandemic2020.
- Nathalie Alvarado and Viviana Vélez-Grajales, "Dentro de las Prisiones de América Latina y el Caribe: Una Primera Mirada al Otro Lado de Las Rejas," Inter-American Development Bank, September 2019, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Dentro_de_las_prisiones_de_Am%C3%A9rica_Latina_y_el_Caribe_Una_primera_mirada_al_otro_lado_de_las_rejas.pdf, 16; Nathalie Alvarado et al. "Las cárceles de América Latina y el Caribe ante la crisis sanitaria del COVID-19," Inter-American Development Bank, August, 2020, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Las-carceles-de-America-Latina-y-el-Caribe-ante-la-crisis-sanitaria-del-COVID-19.pdf, 5.
- 24 Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "Reports on the Human Rights of Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas," Organization of American States, December 31, 2011, https://www.



oas.org/en/iachr/pdl/docs/pdf/PPL2011eng.pdf, para. 536-537.

- 25 Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "Reports on the Human Rights of Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas," Organization of American States, December 31, 2011, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/pdl/docs/pdf/PPL2011eng.pdf, para. 476. For example, on a visit to a prison in El Salvador, the Rapporteur on the Rights of Persons Deprived of Liberty observed that the nutritional content and quality of the food were insufficient, almost entirely lacking in protein. Additionally, on a visit to a prison in the province of Buenos Aires, the Rapporteur found that prisoners in solitary confinement often lived without running water and had to eat with their hands.
- See, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) and World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, "Good governance for prison health in the 21st century: A policy brief on the organization of prison health," Word Health Organization (WHO), 2013, https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/231506/Good-governance-for-prison-health-in-the-21st-century.pdf.
- World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, "Preparedness, prevention, and control of COVID-19 in prisons and other places of detention: Interim Guidance,", March 15, 2020, https://www.euro.who.int/_data/assets/pdf_file/0019/434026/Preparedness-prevention-and-control-of-COVID-19-in-prisons.pdf?ua=1, 2
- Nathalie Alvarado et al. "Las cárceles de América Latina y el Caribe ante la crisis sanitaria del COVID-19," Inter-American Development Bank, August 2020, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Las-carceles-de-America-Latina-y-el-Caribe-ante-la-crisis-sanitaria-del-COVID-19.pdf. 5. The IADB also notes, for example, that in Brazil, numbers for HIV inside prisons are 138 higher than for the general population.
- See, for example, Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "Reports on the Human Rights of Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas," Organization of American States, December 31, 2011, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/pdl/docs/pdf/PPL2011eng.pdf, para. 468.
- An article published in the JAMA Internal Medicine journal about COVID-19 in prisons and jails in the United States describes a Spanish influenza outbreak in San Quentin prison in California as follows: "Prior viral epidemics have wrought havoc in carceral settings. An account from San Quentin prison detailing the Spanish influenza of 1918 estimated that half of the 1900 prisoners contracted the disease during the first wave of the epidemic; sick calls increased from 150 to 700 daily." Laura Hawks, Steffie Woolhandler, and Danny McCormick, "COVID-19 in Prisons and Jails in the United States," JAMA Intern Med, April 28, 2020, https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamainternalmedicine/fullarticle/2765271?resultClick=1.
- 31 See, Talha Burki, "Prisons are 'in no way equipped' to deal with COVID-19," The Lancet, Vol 395, Issue 10234, May 2, 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30984-3.
- Nathalie Alvarado et al. "Las cárceles de América Latina y el Caribe ante la crisis sanitaria del COVID-19," Inter-American Development Bank, August, 2020, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Las-carceles-de-America-Latina-y-el-Caribe-ante-la-crisis-sanitaria-del-COVID-19.pdf, 5.
- 33 Equal Justice Initiative, "Covid-19's Impact on People in Prison," August 21, 2020, https://eji.org/news/covid-19s-impact-on-people-in-prison/.
- 34 United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) and World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, "Good governance for prison health in the 21st century: A policy brief on the organization of prison health," Word Health Organization (WHO), 2013, https://www.euro.who.int/_data/assets/pdf_file/0017/231506/Good-governance-for-prison-health-in-the-21st-century.pdf, 3.
- 35 World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe,

- "Preparedness, prevention, and control of COVID-19 in prisons and other places of detention: Interim Guidance," March 15, 2020, https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/434026/Preparedness-prevention-and-control-of-COVID-19-in-prisons.pdf?ua=1,
- Press Release: "IACHR concerned about specific risks faced by Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas during the COVID-19 pandemic," Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, September 9, 2020, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/212.asp.
- 37 The IACHR observed, for example, that in Brazil, only 64,536 persons deprived of liberty (less than 0.4 percent of the total prison population) had been tested for the virus by September 3 and that in Honduras, the State reported that only around 21 percent of the country prison population had been tested. Press Release: "IACHR concerned about specific risks faced by Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas during the COVID-19 pandemic," Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, September 9, 2020, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/212.asp.
- 38 Ibid.
- 39 Comité Nacional Para la Prevención de la Tortura, "Reporte: Estado de la situación de las personas privadas de libertad (PLL) durante el período de emergencia sanitaria por el COVID-19 al 14/07/2020," July 14, 2020, https://cnpt.gob.ar/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Reporte-Estado-de-Situaci%C3%B3n-PPL-Covid-al-14-07.pdf, 4.
- 40 Gendarmería de Chile, "Reporte diario de contagios y proceso de vacunación," June 26, 2020, https://www.gendarmeria.gob.cl/corona2020.html.
- 41 Instituto Nacional Penitenciario y Carcelario (INPEC), "Situación Actual Coronavirus (COVID-19) Establecimientos Carcelarios del Orden Nacional," August 6, 2020, https://www.inpec.gov.co/web/quest/covid-19-establecimientos-inpec.
- 42 Ministerio de Gobierno, Dirección General del Sistema Penitenciario, "Cuadro Estadístico del Comportamiento de la COVID-19 en los Centros Penitenciarios del País", República de Panamá, October 29, 2020, https://www.sistemapenitenciario.gob.pa/cuadro-estadistico-del-comportamiento-de-la-covid-19-en-los-centros-penitenciarios-del-pais/.
- Press Release: "IACHR concerned about specific risks faced by Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas during the COVID-19 pandemic," Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, September 9, 2020, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/212.asp.
- See, Press Release: "The IACHR urges States to guarantee the health and integrity of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic," Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, March 31, 2020, http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/066.asp.
- Radio France Internationale, "Brésil: évasions en masse de détenus suite aux mesures anti-coronavirus," March 17, 2020, https://www.rfi.fr/fr/am%C3%A9riques/20200317-br%C3%A9sil-evasion-prison-semi-liberte-sao-paulo-coronavirus-covid19.
- 46 AKE International, "Latin America: Prison riots increase as COVID-19 spreads," April 29, 2020, https://akegroup.com/2020/04/29/latin-america-prison-riots-increase-as-covid-19-spreads/.
- 47 Press Release: "The IACHR urges States to guarantee the health and integrity of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic," Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, March 31, 2020, http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/066. asp; Jorge Luis Pérez Valery, "Se fugan 84 presos de cárcel en Ven-

ezuela; operación de recaptura deja al menos 10 fallecidos, dicen autoridades," CNN Español, March 19, 2020, https://cnnespanol.cnn.com/2020/03/19/alerta-10-abatidos-en-zulia-venezuela-tras-fuga-de-84-presos-informaron-autoridades/.

48 Correo Del Sur, "En vivo: Motín en la cárcel San Roque," June 19, 2020, https://correodelsur.com/seguridad/20200619_en-vivo-motin-en-la-carcel-san-roque.html.

49 Redacción Judicial, "Autoridades confirman 23 muertos tras motín en la cárcel La Modelo," El Espectador, March 22, 2020, https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/judicial/autoridades-confirman-23-muertos-tras-motin-en-la-carcel-la-modelo-articulo-910653/; Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "The IACHR urges States to guarantee the health and integrity of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic," Organization of American States, March 31, 2020, http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/066.asp.

Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "The IA-CHR urges States to guarantee the health and integrity of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic," Organization of American States, March 31, 2020, http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/066.asp.

bid; Infobae, "Motines en Santa Fe: confirmaron cinco muertos por los incidentes en los penales de Coronda y Las Flores," March 24, 2020, https://www.infobae.com/sociedad/policiales/2020/03/24/motines-en-carceles-confirmaron-que-son-tres-losmuertos-en-los-penales-de-corona-y-las-flores/.

52 Ibid.

France24, "Al menos 17 muertos y nueve heridos deja motín en cárcel de Venezuela", May 05, 2020, https://www.france24.com/es/20200502-al-menos-17-muertos-y-nueve-heridos-deja-mot%C3%ADn-en-c%C3%A1rcel-de-venezuela.

Tamara Taraciuk Broner, "Decenas de muertos y heridos durante motín carcelario en Venezuela," Human Rights Watch, May 4, 2020, https://www.hrw.org/es/news/2020/05/04/decenas-de-muertos-v-heridos-durante-motin-carcelario-en-venezuela.

55 Observatorio Venezolano de Prisiones, "47 muertos y 75 heridos es la cifra extraoficial de víctimas por un motín en Cepella," May 2, 2020, https://oveprisiones.com/47-muertos-y-75-heridos-es-la-cifra-extraoficial-de-victimas-por-un-motin-en-cepella/.

See, for example, Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "Reports on the Human Rights of Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas," Organization of American States, December 31, 2011, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/pdl/docs/pdf/PPL2011eng.pdf, 26.

See AKE International, "Latin America: Prison riots increase as COVID-19 spreads," April 29, 2020, https://akegroup.com/2020/04/29/latin-america-prison-riots-increase-as-covid-19-spreads/. The argument presented in this paper regarding "criminal opportunism" is that "[i]n all too many countries, of which Brazil, El Salvador and Mexico are clear-cut examples, criminal organisations operate from within prisons with outside support. COVID-19 could embolden these groups to increase their demands to the state by threatening widespread riots, and they can gain leverage from inmates should the state be seen as reluctant to address what can be portrayed as a humanitarian request."

See, Patricio Domínguez and Pedro Rodriguez Martinez, "Pandemic and Prisons: What Are the Challenges for Latin American Governments?," Inter-American Development Bank, April 22, 2020, https://blogs.iadb.org/ideas-matter/en/pandemic-and-prisons-what-are-the-challenges-for-latin-american-governments/.

59 See Yulia Vorobyeva, "Can the Northern Triangle Contain a Prison Pandemic?," The Latin American Advisor, The Inter-American Dialogue, June 30, 2020, https://www.thedialogue.org/analysis/can-the-northern-triangle-contain-a-prison-pandemic/.

See Yulia Vorobyeva, "Can the Northern Triangle Contain

a Prison Pandemic?," The Latin American Advisor, The Inter-American Dialogue, June 30, 2020, https://www.thedialogue.org/analysis/can-the-northern-triangle-contain-a-prison-pandemic/.

See World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, "Preparedness, prevention, and control of COVID-19 in prisons and other places of detention: Interim Guidance," March 15, 2020, https:// www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/434026/Preparedness-prevention-and-control-of-COVID-19-in-prisons.pdf: Bachelet, "Urgent action needed to prevent COVID-19 rampaging through places of detention," United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner, March 25, 2020, https://www.ohchr.org/EN/ NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25745&LangID; UN - Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, "Advice of the Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture to States Parties and National Preventive Mechanisms relating to the Coronavirus Pandemic," United Nations, March 25, 2020, https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/OP-CAT/AdviceStatePartiesCoronavirusPandemic2020.pdf; Inter-Agency Standing Committee- OCHA, "IASC Interim Guidance on COVID-19: Focus on Persons Deprived of Their Liberty (developed by OHCHR and WHO)," March 27, 2020, https://interagencystandingcommittee. org/other/iasc-interim-guidance-covid-19-focus-persons-deprivedtheir-liberty-developed-ohchr-and-who; Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "The IACHR urges States to guarantee the health and integrity of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic," Organization of American States, March 31, 2020, http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/066.asp; Inter-American Court of Human Rights, "COVID-19 y Derechos Humanos: Los problemas y desafíos deben ser abordados con perspectiva de derechos humanos y respetando las obligaciones internacionales," April 9, 2020, http://www. corteidh.or.cr/tablas/alerta/comunicado/cp-27-2020.html; Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights - Regional Office for South America, "COVID-19: Argumentos que justifican medidas para reducir la población privada de libertad," April 2020, https://acnudh.org/load/2020/04/Documento.pdf; World Health Organization, "UNODC, WHO, UNAIDS and OHCHR joint statement on COVID-19 in prisons and closed settings," May 13, 2020, https://www. who.int/news/item/13-05-2020-unodc-who-unaids-and-ohchr-jointstatement-on-covid-19-in-prisons-and-other-closed-settings.

62 Michelle Bachelet, "Urgent action needed to prevent COVID-19 rampaging through places of detention," United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner, March 25, 2020, https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25745&LangID.

ON – Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, "Advice of the Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture to States Parties and National Preventive Mechanisms relating to the Coronavirus Pandemic," United Nations, March 25, 2020, para. 9 point 2, https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/OPCAT/AdviceStatePartiesCoronavirus-Pandemic2020.pdf, 3.

OHCHR, and WHO, "Interim Guidance - COVID-19: Focus on Persons Deprived of Their Liberty," Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), March 2020, https://interagencystandingcommittee. org/other/iasc-interim-guidance-covid-19-focus-persons-deprived-their-liberty-developed-ohchr-and-who, 3. See also: World Health Organization, "UNODC, WHO, UNAIDS and OHCHR joint statement on COVID-19 in prisons and closed settings," May 13, 2020, https://www.who.int/news/item/13-05-2020-unodc-who-unaids-and-ohchr-joint-statement-on-covid-19-in-prisons-and-other-closed-settings.

Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "The IA-CHR urges States to guarantee the health and integrity of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic," Organization of American States, March 31, 2020,



http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/066. asp; Inter-American Court of Human Rights, "COVID-19 y Derechos Humanos: Los problemas y desafíos deben ser abordados con perspectiva de derechos humanos y respetando las obligaciones internacionales," April 9, 2020, http://www.corteidh.or.cr/tablas/alerta/comunicado/cp-27-2020.html.

See, for example, Servicio Penitenciario Federal, "Guía de actuación para la prevención y control del COVID-19 en el Servicio Penitenciario Federal," República Argentina, March 25, 2020, https:// www.fiscales.gob.ar/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Anexo-582020. pdf.pdf.pdf, 11; Gendarmería de Chile, "Medidas con que Gendarmería enfrenta al coronavirus," https://html.gendarmeria.gob.cl/ doc/medidas.pdf; Minsalud, "Lineamientos para control, prevención y manejo de casos por COVID-19 para la población privada de la libertad-PPL en Colombia," Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social Bogotá, April 2020, https://www.minsalud.gov.co/Ministerio/Institucional/ Procesos%20y%20procedimientos/GIPS10.pdf; Ministerio de Gobernación Dirección General del Sistema Penitenciario, "Se activan protocolos preventivos contra el Coronavirus," Gobierno de Guatemala, March 20, 2020, https://dgsp.gob.gt/se-activan-protocolos-preventivos-contra-el-coronaviru/; Secretaría de Salud, "Lineamientos para la prevención y manejo de COVID-19 en población privada de libertad," Gobierno de la República de Honduras, March 2020, http://www. dgvmn.gob.hn/documents/COVID19/Lineamientos%20manejo%20 ppl%20covid19.pdf, 16; Secretaría de Seguridad y Protección Ciudadana et al. "Protocolo de actuación para la atención de COVID-19 al interior de centros federales de reinserción social (CEFERESOS)," March https://coronavirus.gob.mx/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/ Protocolo_De_Actuacion_COVID-19_CEFERESOS.pdf; Ministerio de Justicia, "Acciones de prevención de covid-19," Gobierno Nacional de Paraguay, https://www.ministeriodejusticia.gov.py/institucion/ acciones-de-prevencion-covid-19; Instituto Nacional Penitenciario, "Comunicado N. 05-2020-INPE" INPE dispone medidas preventivas para mitigar situaciones de contagio por coronavirus," Ministerio de Justicia y Derechos Humanos Perú, March 6, 2020, https://www.gob. pe/institucion/inpe/noticias/189620-comunicado-n-05-2020-inpe.

67 Secretaría de Salud, "Lineamientos para la prevención y manejo de COVID-19 en población privada de libertad," Gobierno de la República de Honduras, March 2020, http://www.dgvmn.gob.hn/documents/COVID19/Lineamientos%20manejo%20ppl%20covid19. pdf, 16.

Minsalud, "Lineamientos para control, Prevención y manejo de casos por COVID-19 para la población privada de la libertad-PPL en Colombia," Ministerio de Salud y Protección Social Bogotá, April 2020, https://www.minsalud.gov.co/Ministerio/Institucional/Procesos%20y%20procedimientos/GIPS10.pdf, 19.

69 Secretaría de Seguridad y Protección Ciudadana et al. "Protocolo de actuación para la atención de COVID-19 al interior de centros federales de reinserción social (CEFERESOS)," Gobierno de México, March 2020, https://coronavirus.gob.mx/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Protocolo_De_Actuacion_COVID-19_CEFERESOS.pdf. 70 Instituto Nacional Penitenciario, "#PerúEstáEnNuestras-Manos", Twitter, March 28, 2020, https://twitter.com/INPEgob/status/1244075552702529536/photo/1.

Vivian Jaén, "Ministra de Gobierno: 'La falta de agua potable es una de las falencias más grandes del Sistema Penitenciario del país," Mi Diario, July 27, 2020, https://www.midiario.com/nacionales/ministra-de-gobierno-la-falta-de-agua-potable-es-una-de-las-falencias-mas-grandes-del-sistema-penitenciario-del-pais/. See also, Ministerio de Gobierno, "Comunicado Medidas Temporales Contra el COVID-19 en el Sistema Penitenciario," República de Panamá, March 26, 2020, http://www.mingob.gob.pa/comunicado-medidas-temporales-contra-el-covid-19-en-el-sistema-penitenciario/. The same is true for Guatemala, where the Supreme Court ruled that emergency protocols—including the need to provide more drinking

water and food services—are required to protect prisoners from the pandemic. Glenda Sanchez, "CSJ ordena implementar 'protocolos específicos' por covid-19 en cárceles," República, July 22, 2020, https://republica.gt/2020/07/22/csj-ordena-implementar-protocolos-especificos-por-covid-19-en-carceles/.

Ministerio de Justicia, "Continúa aplicación de vacunas contra la influenza en centros penitenciarios," Gobierno Nacional de Paraguay, June 18, 2020, https://www.ministeriodejusticia. gov.py/noticias/continua-aplicacion-de-vacunas-contra-la-influenza-en-centros-penitenciarios; Redacción de TVN Noticias, "Privados de libertad reciben artículos de aseo," TVN Noticias, April 17, 2020, https://www.tvn-2.com/nacionales/Coronavirus-en-Panama-Privados-libertad-reciben-articulos-aseo-Sistema-Penitenciario_0_5558444127.html; Ministerio de Salud Chile, "Ministros de Salud y Justicia implementan medidas de prevención por COVID-19 en ex Penitenciaria," Plan de Acción Coronavirus, March 13, 2020, https://www.minsal.cl/ministros-de-salud-y-justicia-implementan-medidas-de-prevencion-por-covid-19-en-ex-penitenciaria/.

For example, in El Salvador, the International Committee of the Red Cross installed 103 water dispensers and donated more than 17,000 bars of soap, 100 gallons of chlorine, 140,300 purifying water tablets, 2,736 gallons of sodium hypochlorite, as well as gloves and sanitary towels across multiple prisons. In Honduras, the ICRC has donated 19,000 masks, 40,000 globes and 500 gallons of disinfectant chlorine. In Nicaragua, the ICRC donated equipment that would help prison personnel, including plastic glasses, gloves and masks. Comité Internacional de la Cruz Roja, "México y América Central: El CICR apoya a lugares de detención para prevenir y controlar la propagación de la COVID-19," April 7, 2020, https://www.icrc.org/es/ document/el-cicr-apoya-lugares-de-detencion-para-prevenir-y-controlar-la-propagacion-de-la-covid-19. Additionally, in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Uruguay and Paraguay, the ICRC has donated machines and supplies for the production of masks and personal protective equipment, as well as cleaning, hygiene and sanitation products. Comité Internacional de la Cruz Roja, "Brasil y Cono Sur; El CICR presta apoyo a los sistemas penitenciarios de la región en la lucha contra la pandemia," May 14, 2020, https://www.icrc.org/es/document/ brasil-y-cono-sur-el-cicr-presta-apoyo-los-sistemas-penitenciariosde-la-region-para; The ICRC has led multiple donation and assistance efforts throughout the Latin America region. Comité Internacional de la Cruz Roja, "América Latina y el CICR en tiempos de COVID-19: así adaptamos nuestra acción," April 23, 2020, https://www.icrc.org/es/ document/america-latina-y-el-cicr-en-tiempos-de-covid-19-asi-adaptamos-nuestra-accion#atajoLima.

74 Estúdio Folha, "Detentas do Amazonas produzem mascaras," April 1, 2020, http://estudio.folha.uol.com.br/iniciativascontraocoronavirus/2020/04/1988630-detentas-do-amazonas-produzem-mascaras.shtml?dicbo=v1-4d39fff601c3dd-5f429527d74c268336-00de1bb92c343ea54da674593b8cda3ac8-gzswmodegvsdalldgmzdsljuha4dsljymu2giljwgfsdembqme3weyteme.

75 Ibid

Ministerio de Justicia, "COVID-19: PPL de cuatro penitenciarias elaboran 3,500 tapabocas por día," Gobierno Nacional de Paraguay, April 15, 2020, https://www.ministeriodejusticia.gov.py/noticias/covid-19-ppl-de-cuatro-penitenciarias-elaboran-3500-tapabocas-por-dia.

77 Ibid.

78 Andina, "Cárceles Productivas: internos del Cusco confeccionan mascarillas y mamelucos", June 12 2020, https://andina.pe/agencia/noticia-carceles-productivas-internos-del-cusco-confeccionan-mascarillas-y-mamelucos-801277.aspx.

79 AFP, "Estoy aportando a Guatemala y me estoy ayudando a mi mismo": Ex pandilleros cosen mascarillas en la cárcel," RPP Noticias, March 30, 2020, https://rpp.pe/mundo/actualidad/

coronavirus-covid-19-estoy-aportando-a-guatemala-y-me-estoy-ayu-dando-a-mi-mismo-ex-pandilleros-cosen-mascarillas-en-la-carcel-noticia-1255102?ref=rpp. See also a similar testimony in Mexico: AFP, "Covid-19 au Mexique: des detenus cousent des masques," Le Jornal de Monréal, March 26, 2020, https://www.journaldemontreal.com/2020/03/26/covid-19-au-mexique--des-detenus-cousent-des-masques.

In this sense, in its Advice regarding Covid-19 issued on March 2020, the United Nations Subcommittee for the Prevention of Torture called on Member States to the Optional Protocol on the Convention of Torture to enable families to continue providing detainees with necessary supplies of food and other supplies, "with due respect for necessary protective measures." UN – Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, "Advice of the Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture to States Parties and National Preventive Mechanisms relating to the Coronavirus Pandemic," United Nations, March 25, 2020, https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/OPCAT/AdviceStatePartiesCoronavirusPandemic2020.pdf.

Francisco M. Mugnolo, "Recomendación sobre el acceso a la comunicación de personas alojadas en el SPF," Procuración Penitenciaria de la Nacion, June 20, 2020, https://www.ppn.gov.ar/en-us/institucional/noticias/2696-recomendacion-sobre-el-acceso-a-la-comunicacion-de-personas-alojadas-en-el-spf.

82 Ministerio de Justicia, "PPL se comunican con familiares mediante videollamadas," Gobierno Nacional de Paraguay, March 28, 2020, https://www.ministeriodejusticia.gov.py/noticias/ppl-se-comunican-con-familiares-mediante-videollamadas.

83 Katerin Chumil, "Coronavirus: videoconferencias podrían sustituir las visitas en las cárceles," Prensa Libre, March 27, 2020, https://www.prensalibre.com/guatemala/justicia/coronavirus-videoconferencias-podrian-sustituir-las-visitas-en-las-carceles/.

84 Victor H. Violini, "Habeas Corpus Colectivo. Aislamiento social, preventivo, y obligatorio. Incomunicación. Teléfono Celular," Tribunal de Casación Penal, March 30, 2020, http://www.scba.gov.ar/casacion/Novedadesvarias.asp?id=2&cat=1.

Notas Periodismo Popular, "El gobierno bonaerense planea construir 2 mil plazas en cárceles," June 18, 2020, https://notasperiodismopopular.com.ar/2020/06/18/el-gobierno-bonaerense-planea-construir-2-mil-plazas-en-carceles/; Andrés Klipphan, "Julio Alak: 'El Servicio Penitenciario Bonaerense es una deuda de la democracia,;" Infobae, June 18, 2020, https://www.infobae.com/politica/2020/06/18/julio-alak-el-servicio-penitenciario-bonaerense-es-una-deuda-de-la-democracia/.

lnfobae, "Celulares en las cárceles: los presos tendrán permitido comunicarse por WhatsApp pero no podrán usar las redes sociales," March 31, 2020, https://www.infobae.com/coronavirus/2020/03/31/celulares-en-las-carceles-bonaerens-es-los-presos-tendran-permitido-comunicarse-por-whatsapp-pero-no-podran-usar-las-redes-sociales/.

87 Gendarmería de Chile, Twitter, June 19, 2020, https://twitter.com/Gendarmeria_CL/status/1274046983242682369.

88 UNVM, "La UNVM dictará talleres virtuales artísticos para personas privadas de su libertad," El Diario, July 23, 2020, https://www.eldiariocba.com.ar/locales/2020/7/23/la-unvm-dictara-talleres-virtuales-artisticos-para-personas-privadas-de-su-libertad-25205.html; In Maule, Chile, religious necessities of persons deprived of liberty were met through online partnership with Evangelical groups: El Heraldo, "Participan todos los Penales Culto Evangélico on-line: Gendarmeria, apoya necesidades espirituales de privados de libertad del Maule," July 18, 2020, http://www.diarioelheraldo.cl/noticia/participan-todos-los-penales-culto-evangelico-on-line-gendarmeria-apoya-necesidades-espirituales-de-privados-de-libertad-del-maule.

89 See, for example, Inter-American Commission on Human

Rights, "Reports on the Human Rights of Persons Deprived of Liberty in the Americas," Organization of American States, December 31, 2011, https://www.oas.org/en/iachr/pdl/docs/pdf/PPL2011eng.pdf, 156-157.

90 See, for example, Human Rights Watch, "Announced releases of Detainees in the Justice Systems Due to Covid-19," May 22, 2020, https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/media_2020/05/announced releases detainees covid19 1.pdf.

91 See, for example, World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, "Preparedness, prevention, and control of COVID-19 in prisons and other places of detention: Interim Guidance," March 15, 2020, https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_ file/0019/434026/Preparedness-prevention-and-control-of-COVID-19-in-prisons.pdf; World Health Organization, "UNODC, WHO, UNAIDS and OHCHR joint statement on COVID-19 in prisons and closed settings," May 13, 2020, https://www.who.int/news/item/13-05-2020unodc-who-unaids-and-ohchr-joint-statement-on-covid-19-in-prisons-and-other-closed-settings; Inter-Agency Standing Committee, "Interim Guidance - COVID-19: Focus on Persons Deprived of Their Liberty (OHCHR and WHO)," March 2020 https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/files/2020-11/IASC%20Interim%20Guidance%20on%20COVID-19%20-%20Focus%20on%20Persons%20 Deprived%20of%20Their%20Liberty_0.pdf, 2; Nathalie Alvarado et al. "Las cárceles de América Latina y el Caribe ante la crisis sanitaria del COVID-19," Inter-American Development Bank, August, 2020, https:// publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Las-carcelesde-America-Latina-y-el-Caribe-ante-la-crisis-sanitaria-del-COVID-19. pdf, 5.

92 See, for example, Inter-Agency Standing Committee, "Interim Guidance - COVID-19: Focus on Persons Deprived of Their Liberty (OHCHR and WHO)," March 2020, https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/files/2020-11/IASC%20Interim%20Guidance%20 on%20COVID-19%20-%20Focus%20on%20Persons%20Deprived%20 of%20Their%20Liberty_0.pdf, 3; World Health Organization, "UNODC, WHO, UNAIDS and OHCHR joint statement on COVID-19 in prisons and closed settings," May 13, 2020, https://www.who.int/news/item/13-05-2020-unodc-who-unaids-and-ohchr-joint-statement-oncovid-19-in-prisons-and-other-closed-settings.

National Council of Justice, Brazil, "Recomendação N. 62," March 17, 2020, https://www.cnj.jus.br/wp-content/uploads/2020/0 3/62-Recomenda%C3%A7%C3%A3o.pdf; Instituto Latinoamericano de las Naciones Unidas para la Prevención del Delito y el Tratamiento del Delincuente (ILANUD), "El Sistema Penitenciario ante la Encrucijada producto de la crisis provocada por el COVID-19," April 2020, https://www.ilanud.or.cr/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/ILANUD-COVID-19.pdf, 20.

94 National Council of Justice, Brazil, "Recomendação N. 62," March 17, 2020, https://www.cnj.jus.br/wp-content/uploads/2 020/03/62-Recomenda%C3%A7%C3%A3o.pdf; Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "The IACHR urges States to guarantee the health and integrity of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic," Organization of American States, March 31, 2020, http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/ PReleases/2020/066.asp.

95 Presidência and Secretaria Especial da Presidência e das Comissõesm Permanentes Brasil, "Portaria Conjunta Nº 19/ PR-TJMG/2020," March 16, 2020, https://www.tjmg.jus.br/data/files/88/64/9F/4E/C98E07105C580D076ECB08A8/PORTARIA-CONJUNTA-19-PR-TJMG-2020.pdf, 2; Instituto Latinoamericano de las Naciones Unidas para la Prevención del Delito y el Tratamiento del Delincuente (ILANUD), "El Sistema Penitenciario ante la Encrucijada producto de la crisis provocada por el COVID-19," April 2020, https://www.ilanud.or.cr/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/ILANUD-COVID-19. pdf, 20.

Centro de Información Judicial, "Acordada 9/20 de la



Cámara Federal de Casación Penal," Cámara Federal de Casación Penal, April 13, 2020, https://www.cij.gov.ar/nota-37089-Acordada-9-20-de-la-C-mara-Federal-de-Casaci-n-Penal.html, 5-6. See also, Raúl A. Roust, "Análisis jurisprudencial de las decisiones adoptadas en relación a la situación de las personas privadas de su libertad en la actual situación de pandemia (Covid-19)," Microjuris – Al Día Argentina, April 30, 2020, https://aldiaargentina.microjuris.com/2020/05/14/analisis-jurisprudencial-de-las-decisiones-adoptadas-en-relacion-ala-situacion-de-las-personas-privadas-de-su-libertad-en-la-actual-situacion-de-pandemia-covid-19/.

97 Eduardo Néstor de Lázzari and Martin Daniel Lorat, "Ref. Expte. N.: SDH-96-2020," Poder Judicial de la Provincia de Buenos Aires, March 25, 2020, http://www.scba.gov.ar/includes/descarga. asp?id=45344&n=Ver%20resoluci%F3n%2052-20.pdf; Poder Judicial de la Provincia de Buenos Aires, "COVID-19 (Coronavirus). Personas privadas de la libertad. Determinaciones en el marco de las medidas de aislamiento social y prevención de riesgos dispuestas por el Estado Nacional," March 23, 2020, http://www.scba.gov.ar/institucional/nota.asp?expre=COVID-19%20(Coronavirus).%20%20Personas%20 privadas%20de%20la%20libertad&veradjuntos=no.

Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "The IA-CHR urges States to guarantee the health and integrity of persons deprived of liberty and their families in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic," Organization of American States, March 31, 2020, http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/066.asp. See also above section IV.1.

99 Centro de Información Judicial, "Proveído de la Cámara Federal de Casación Penal," Cámara Federal de Casación Penal, April 2, 2020, https://www.cij.gov.ar/nota-37032-Prove-do-de-la-C-mara-Federal-de-Casaci-n-Penal.html.

100 Centro de Información Judicial, "Acordada 9/20 de la Cámara Federal de Casación Penal," Cámara Federal de Casación Penal, April 13, 2020, https://www.cij.gov.ar/nota-37089-Acordada-9-20-de-la-C-mara-Federal-de-Casaci-n-Penal.html.

101 Centro de Información Judicial, "Acordada 9/20 de la Cámara Federal de Casación Penal," Cámara Federal de Casación Penal, April 13, 2020, https://www.cij.gov.ar/nota-37089-Acordada-9-20-de-la-C-mara-Federal-de-Casaci-n-Penal.html, 10-11. See also, Ministerio Público Fiscal, "Jurisprudencia de la Cámara Federal de Casación Penal-Sala de Feria-relacionada al COVID-19," República Argentina, April 2020, https://www.fiscales.gob.ar/wp-content/up-loads/2020/04/Informe_Jurisprudencia-CFCP_sala-feria-coivd_informe.pdf, 14.

102 Ibid, 11. See also, Ibid, 15.

Hulda Miranda, "Jueces ordenan reubicar o sacar a presos con enfermedades de riesgo ante COVID-19," Semanario Universidad, April 6, 2020, https://semanariouniversidad.com/ultima-hora/jueces-ordenan-reubicar-o-sacar-a-presos-con-enfermedades-de-riesgo-ante-covid-19/.

Ministerio de Justicia y Paz, "Ministerio de Justicia y Paz acata orden de juzgado de ejecución de la pena sobre valoraciones extraordinarias por Covid-19," República de Costa Rica, April 22, 2020, http://www.mjp.go.cr/Comunicacion/Nota?nom=Ministerio-de-Justicia-y-Paz-acata-orden-de-Juzgado-de-Ejecución-de-la-Pena-sobrevaloraciones-extraordinarias-por-Covid-19.

105 Ibid. 106 Ibid.

107 El Telegrafo, "CNJ sugiere a jueces privilegiar medidas alternativas en lugar de la prision," April 12, 2020, https://www.eltelegrafo.com.ec/noticias/judicial/12/cnj-sugiere-jueces-privilegiar-medidas-alternativas-prision; Instituto Latinoamericano de las Naciones Unidas para la Prevención del Delito y el Tratamiento del Delincuente (ILANUD), "El Sistema Penitenciario ante la Encrucijada producto de la crisis provocada por el COVID-19," April 2020, https://www.ilanud.or.cr/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/ILANUD-COVID-19.

pdf, 20.

Procuraduría General de la República, "Procuraduría solicita al CPJ habilitación jueces para conocer cambios provisionales en cumplimiento de penas de adultos mayores y enfermos riesgo Coronavirus," Gobierno de la República Dominicana, March 29, 2020, https://pgr.gob.do/procuraduria-solicita-al-cpj-habilitacion-jueces-para-conocer-cambios-provisionales-en-cumplimiento-de-penas-de-adultos-mayores-y-enfermos-riesgo-coronavirus/; Procuraduría General de la República, "Cambio provisional de prisión por coronavirus solo será solicitado en casos internos de más de 60 años y los que tengan registrados con enfermedades crónicas previo al estado de emergencia," Gobierno de la República Dominicana, March 31, 2020, https://pgr.gob.do/cambio-provisional-de-prision-por-coronavirus-solo-sera-solicitado-en-casos-internos-de-mas-de-60-an os-y-los-que-tengan-registrados-con-enfermedades-cronicas-previo-al-estado-de-emergencia/; see also, Instituto Latinoamericano de las Naciones Unidas para la Prevención del Delito y el Tratamiento del Delincuente (ILANUD), "El Sistema Penitenciario ante la Encrucijada producto de la crisis provocada por el COVID-19," April 2020, https:// www.ilanud.or.cr/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/ILANUD-COVID-19. pdf, 21.

109 Procuraduría General de la República, "Cambio provisional de prisión por coronavirus solo será solicitado en casos internos de más de 60 años y los que tengan registrados con enfermedades crónicas previo al estado de emergencia," Gobierno de la República Dominicana, March 31, 2020, https://pgr.gob.do/cambio-provisional-de-prision-por-coronavirus-solo-sera-solicitado-en-casos-interno s-de-mas-de-60-anos-y-los-que-tengan-registrados-con-enfermedades-cronicas-previo-al-estado-de-emergencia/; See also, Ibid.

110 BCN Ley Chile, "Ley 21228, Concede Indulto General Conmutativo a Causa de la Enfermedad COVID-19 en Chile," Ministerio de Justicia y Derechos Humanos, April 17, 2020, https://nuevo.leychile.cl/navegar?idNorma=1144400.

111 Ibid, Articles 2 and 3.

BCN Ley Chile, "Ley 21228, Concede Indulto General Conmutativo a Causa de la Enfermedad COVID-19 en Chile," Ministerio de Justicia y Derechos Humanos, April 17, 2020, https://nuevo.leychile.cl/navegar?idNorma=1144400.

113 Cristopher Ulloa, "Piñera promulga ley de indulto conmutativo por coronavirus en Chile," CNN en Español, April 16, 2020, https://cnnespanol.cnn.com/2020/04/16/pinera-promulga-ley-de-indulto-conmutativo-por-coronavirus-en-chile/.

BCN Ley Chile, "Ley 21228, Concede Indulto General Conmutativo a Causa de la Enfermedad COVID-19 en Chile," Ministerio de Justicia y Derechos Humanos, April 17, 2020, https://nuevo.leychile.cl/navegar?idNorma=1144400, Article 15.

115 Chile Reports, "President Piñera passed Pardon Act for COVID-19 to prevent large-scale contagion in prison facilities," Gobierno de Chile, April 16, 2020, https://chilereports.cl/en/news/2020/04/16/president-piñera-passes-pardon-act-for-covid-19-to-prevent-large-scale-contagion-in-prison-facilities.

Diario Oficial de la Federación, "Decreto por el que se expide la Ley de Amnistía," Secretaría de Gobernación México (SEGOB), April 22, 2020, http://dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codi-qo=5592105&fecha=22/04/2020.

117 Ibid, Article 1.

118 Ibid, Article 1, Section IV.

119 Ibid, Article 2.

120 Ibid, Article 3.

121 La Gaceta, "Poder Legislativo Decreto No. 36-2020," República de Honduras. The text of this decree is available in the following, non-official source: https://www.aguilarcastillolove.com/assets/covid-19/honduras/documents/10.06.2020%20Decreto%20 Legislativo%20No.%2036-2020%20-%20Reformas%20al%20Códi-qo%20Procesal%20Penal%20(Medidas%20Covid-19).pdf.

122 Ibid, 9. 123 Ibid, 10.

Ministerio de Justicia y del Derecho, "Decreto Legislativo Numero 546," República de Colombia, April 14, 2020, https://dapre.presidencia.gov.co/normativa/normativa/DECRETO%20546%20 DEL%2014%20DE%20ABRIL%20DE%202020.pdf.

125 Ibid, Article 2.126 Ibid, Article 6.

Paulo Cuiza, "Dos condenados por narcotráfico, los primeros en beneficiarse con el indulto en Bolivia," La Razón, May 18, 2020, https://www.la-razon.com/nacional/2020/05/18/dos-condenados-por-narcotrafico-los-primeros-en-beneficiarse-con-el-indulto-en-bolivia/; Claudia Villca and Juan José Cusicanqui, "La Asamblea Legislativa aprueba nuevo indulto y amnistía," La Razón, April 30, 2020, https://www.la-razon.com/nacional/2020/04/30/asamblea-legislativa-nuevo-indulto-amnistia/.

128 "Bolivia: Decreto Presidencial N. 4226," Portal Jurídico Lexivox, May 4, 2020, https://www.lexivox.org/norms/B0-DP-N4226. xhtml, Considerando.

129 Ibid, Article 2. 130 Ibid., Articles 6 and 9.

Ministerio de Gobierno, "253 privados de libertad han 131 sido beneficiados con rebaja de pena," República de Panamá, June 9, 2020, http://www.mingob.gob.pa/253-privados-de-libertad-han-sido-beneficiados-con-rebaja-de-pena/; República de Panamá Ministerio de Gobierno, "Decreto Ejecutivo N. 265," April 9, 2020, https:// www.gacetaoficial.gob.pa/pdfTemp/28999/78149.pdf; de Panamá Ministerio de Gobierno, "Decreto Ejecutivo N. 270," April 13, 2020, https://www.gacetaoficial.gob.pa/pdfTemp/29002/78170. pdf; República de Panamá Ministerio de Gobierno, "Decreto Ejecutivo N. 271," April 20, 2020, https://www.gacetaoficial.gob.pa/ pdfTemp/29007/78223.pdf; República de Panamá Ministerio de Gobierno, "Decreto Ejecutivo N. 272," April 28, 2020, https://www. gacetaoficial.gob.pa/pdfTemp/29012_A/78305.pdf; República de Panamá Ministerio de Gobierno, "Decreto Ejecutivo N. 277," June 3, 2020, https://www.gacetaoficial.gob.pa/pdfTemp/29038_A/78632. pdf; República de Panamá Ministerio de Gobierno, "Decreto Ejecutivo N. 272," June 8, 2020, https://www.gacetaoficial.gob.pa/pdfTemp/29042_B/GacetaNo_29042b_20200608.pdf; República de Panamá Ministerio de Gobierno, "Decreto Ejecutivo N. 304," August 4, 2020, https://www.gacetaoficial.gob.pa/pdfTemp/29083_B/80142. pdf.

See, República de Panamá Ministerio de Gobierno, "Decreto Ejecutivo N. 429," December 23, 2016, https://www.gacetaoficial.gob.pa/pdfTemp/28184_C/GacetaNo_28184c_20161223.pdf; Ministerio de Gobierno, "MINGOB publica nombres de 199 candidatos para rebaja de pena y libertad condicional," República de Panamá, April 10, 2017, https://www.mingob.gob.pa/mingob-publica-nombres-de-199-candidatos-para-rebaja-de-pena-y-libertad-condicional/.

El Peruano, Decreto Supremo que establece supuestos especiales para la evaluación y propuesta de recomendación de Gracias Presidenciales, y determina su procedimiento, en el marco de la emergencia sanitaria por Covid-19, Decreto Supremo No. 004-2020, https://busquedas.elperuano.pe/normaslegales/decreto-supremo-que-establece-supuestos-especiales-para-la-e-decreto-supremo-n-004-2020-jus-1865717-3/.

134 Ibid, article 1.135 Ibid, article 2.136 Ibid, article 3.

Specifically, Nicaragua has released prisoners in the recent months based on Article 60 of Law 473 of 2003, which is the country's Prison Regime legislation. Article 60 refers to the regime of family coexistence, the period immediately before completion of sentence, in which prisoners are allowed to live with their families. La Gaceta No. 222, "Ley No. 473 Ley de Régimen Penitenciario y Ejecución de la Pena," Presidente y Asamblea Nacional de la Republica

de Nicaragua, November 21, 2003,https://www.poderjudicial.gob.ni/pjupload/spenal/pdf/2003_ley01.pdf.

Europa Press, "Nicaragua pone en libertad a 2,800 presos ante denuncias por un posible brote de coronavirus en las cárceles del país," May 13, 2020, https://www.europapress.es/internacional/noticia-nicaragua-pone-libertad-2800-presos-denuncias-posible-brote-coronavirus-carceles-pais-20200513225618.html; El 19 Digital, "Sistema Penitenciario Nacional entrega a 2,815 personas a sus Familias," May 13, 2020, https://www.el19digital.com/articulos/ver/titulo:103275-sistema-penitenciario-nacional-entrega-a-2815-personas-a-sus-familias.

139 Ibid

Álvaro Navarro, "Alto funcionario de Estados Unidos denuncia que el COVID-19 se esparce en las cárceles de Nicaragua," Articulo 66, May 12, 2020, https://www.articulo66.com/2020/05/12/alto-funcionario-departamento-estado-denuncia-covid-19-esperace-prisiones-nicaragua/; Gabriela Selser, "Nicaragua releases more than 2,800 inmates amid pandemic," ABC News, May 13, 2020, https://abcnews.go.com/Health/wireStory/nicaragua-releases-2800-inmates-amid-pandemic-70671387/.

See, for example, Patricio Domínguez and Pedro Rodriguez Martinez, "Ideas to Safely Reduce Prison Populations during the Pandemic," IADB Blogs, May 4, 2020, https://blogs.iadb.org/ideas-matter/en/ideas-to-safely-reduce-prison-populations-during-the-pandemic/; José Miguel Vivanco and César Muñoz, "How to Prevent Covid-19 Outbreaks in Latin America's Prisons," Human Rights Watch, May 21, 2020, https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/05/21/how-preventcovid-19-outbreaks-latin-americas-prisons; Ernesto Londoño, Manuela Andreoni and Letícia Casado, "As Coronavirus Strikes Prisons, Hundreds of Thousands Are Released," The New York Times, April 26, 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/26/world/americas/coronavirus-brazil-prisons.html; Katyna Arqueta, "Support for prisoners during a pandemic," UNDP, June 2, 2020, https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/blog/2020/support-for-prisoners-during-a-pandemic.html; Prensa Latina, "Más de 32 mil presos liberados en Brasil por Covid-19," June 13, 2020, https://www.prensa-latina.cu/index. php?o=rn&id=373697&SEO=mas-de-32-mil-presos-liberados-en-brasil-por-covid-19.

World Prison Brief, "World Prison Brief data - Brazil," December 2019, https://www.prisonstudies.org/country/brazil.

143 See, Ernesto Londoño, Manuela Andreoni and Letícia Casado, "As Coronavirus Strikes Prisons, Hundreds of Thousands Are Released," The New York Times, April 26, 2020. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/26/world/americas/coronavirus-brazil-prisons.html.

CNN Español, "Liberación temprana, detención domiciliaria y más higiene: las políticas carcelarias de algunos países por el covid-19," March 24, 2020, https://cnnespanol.cnn.com/2020/03/24/las-politicas-carcelarias-en-algunos-países-ante-el-covid-19/; Marcos Moreno, "Rebelión en cuatro cárceles de São Paulo y fuga de presos por medidas contra el coronavirus," CNN Español, March 17, 2020, https://cnnespanol.cnn.com/2020/03/17/alerta-brasil-rebelion-en-cuatro-carceles-de-sao-paulo-y-fuga-de-presos-por-medidas-contra-el-coronavirus/.

145 Procuración Penitenciaria de la Nación, "La situación de la población privada de libertad (PPL) ante la emergencia sanitaria por COVID-19, Reporte estadístico N°3," July 15, 2020, https://ppn.gov.ar/pdf/boletines/ReporteestadisticoPPLCOVID19-3.pdf, 3.

146 Ibid. 147 Ibid. 5.

See, La Nacion, "Julio Conte Grand, procurador de la Corte Suprema de la provincia de Buenos Aires: 'Jamás escuché de la existencia de un plan para liberar presos," April 30, 2020, https://www.lanacion.com.ar/politica/julio-conte-grand-jamas-escuche-existencia-plan-nid2359998. Also, Nicolás Bessone, from the Law Faculty at the National University of Mar de Plata, writes in this regard that there is an absence of information and that there were around 800 releas-



es, which would represent a small percentage, around 1.63% of the population registered pre-pandemic. Nicolás Bessone, "Servicio Penitenciario Bonaerense" in "Los efectos del coronavirus en las cárceles de Latinoamérica," Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SOCLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV), June 2020, https://criminologialatam.wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-de-latino-america/, 31.

Bergman M. et al, "Argentina" in "Los efectos del coronavirus en las cárceles de Latinoamérica," Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SOCLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV), June 2020, https://criminologialatam.wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-de-latino-america/, 30.

150 Gendarmería de Chile, "Efectos de Medidas Tomadas para Descongestión Sistema Penitenciario Cifras Preliminares," last updated June 26, 2020, https://html.gendarmeria.gob.cl/doc/Cuadro_Resumen_Prensa.pdf.

According to a SOCLA report published in June 2020, the number of persons deprived of liberty released is higher, between 10 to 15%. Source: Olga Espinoza et al. "Chile" in "Los efectos del coronavirus en las cárceles de Latinoamérica," Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SOCLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV), June 2020, https://criminologialatam.wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-de-latino-america/, 54.

152 Elena Azaola, "México" in "Los efectos del coronavirus en las cárceles de Latinoamérica," Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SOCLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV), June 2020, https://criminologialatam.wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-delatino-america/, 63.

An article in El Universal by José Miguel Vivanco, the Director of the Americas division of Human Rights Watch, mentions that the federal and state governments in Mexico had used ordinary measures to release around 2,000 prisoners, highlighting that this was not enough. José Miguel Vivanco, "Covid: el riesgo de las cárceles mexicanas," Human Rights Watch, June 4, 2020, https://www.hrw.org/es/news/2020/06/04/covid-el-riesgo-de-las-carceles-mexicanas.

154 Elena Azaola, "México" in "Los efectos del coronavirus en las cárceles de Latinoamérica," Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SOCLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV), June 2020, https://criminologialatam.wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-delatino-america/, 63.

Ministerio de Gobierno, "273 privados de libertad se han beneficiado con rebaja de pena," República de Panamá, August 4, 2020, https://www.mingob.gob.pa/273-privados-de-libertad-se-han-beneficiados-con-rebaja-de-pena/#:~:text=304%20del%204%20 de%20agosto,que%20han%20recibido%20este%20beneficio.

At the beginning of April 2020, there were 12 cases of home arrests reported in Panama's largest judicial district. Juan Manuel Díaz, "Conceden arresto domiciliario a 12 presos en medio de la pandemia," La Prensa, April 2, 2020, https://www.prensa.com/impresa/panorama/conceden-arresto-domiciliario-a-12-presos-en-medio-de-la-pandemia/.

At the beginning of April 2020, there were 12 cases of home arrests reported in Panama's largest judicial district. Juan Manuel Díaz, "Conceden arresto domiciliario a 12 presos en medio de la pandemia," La Prensa, April 2, 2020, https://www.prensa.com/impresa/panorama/conceden-arresto-domiciliario-a-12-presos-en-medio-de-la-pandemia/.

Grupo de investigación en Psicología Forense y Penitenciaria de la Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú, "Perú" in "Los efectos del coronavirus en las cárceles de Latinoamérica," Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SOCLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV), June 2020, https://criminologialatam.wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-delcovid-19-carceles-de-latino-america/, 72.

World Prison Brief, "World Prison Brief data- Peru," April 2019, https://www.prisonstudies.org/country/peru.

60 See section IV.4 under Executive Branch Measures.

Minjusticia Informa, "Esperamos seguir generando estrategias para solucionar la problemática del hacinamiento': Ministra Cabello," Gobierno de Colombia, June 3, 2020, https://www.minjusticia.gov.co/Noticias/esperamos-seguir-generando-estrategias-para-solucionar-la-problem225tica-del-hacinamiento-ministra-cabello.

Instituto Nacional Penitenciario y Carcelario, "Población Intramural," February 29, 2020, http://200.91.226.18:8080/jasper-server-pro/flow.html?_flowId=dashboardRuntimeFlow&dashboardResource=/public/DEV/dashboards/Dash_Poblacion_Intramural&j_username=inpec_user&j_password=inpec.

163 Ibid. The total prison population as of November 4, 2020, was 98,841 persons deprived of liberty.

164 Ibid. From the time period of February 2020 to November 2020 the number of house arrests had increased by 6,425.

Paulo Cuiza, "Defensoría observa demora en acciones para cumplir con el beneficio del indulto y amnistía," La Razón, May 16, 2020, https://www.la-razon.com/nacional/2020/05/16/defensoria-observa-demora-en-acciones-para-cumplir-con-el-beneficio-del-indulto-y-amnistia/.

Opinión, "Alerta en penales del país por 91 casos positivos y el ingreso del coronavirus a través de alimentos," July 11, 2020, https://www.opinion.com.bo/articulo/pais/alerta-penales-pais-91-casos-positivos-ingreso-coronavirus-traves-alimentos/20200711000614777124.html. See also, Pamela Pomacahua, "Organismo pide liberar a más reclusos para evitar contagios," Página Siete, July 27, 2020, https://www.paginasiete.bo/seguridad/2020/7/27/organismo-pide-liberar-mas-reclusos-para-evitar-contagios-262548.html.

World Prison Brief, "World Prison Brief data- Bolivia," April 2019, https://www.prisonstudies.org/country/bolivia. See also, Opinión, "Alerta en penales del país por 91 casos positivos y el ingreso del coronavirus a través de alimentos," July 11, 2020, https://www.opinion.com.bo/articulo/pais/alerta-penales-pais-91-casos-positivos-ingreso-coronavirus-traves-alimentos/20200711000614777124. html; Pamela Pomacahua, "Organismo pide liberar a más reclusos para evitar contagios," Página Siete, July 27, 2020, https://www.paginasiete.bo/seguridad/2020/7/27/organismo-pide-liberar-mas-reclusos-para-evitar-contagios-262548.html.

168 EFE, "Más de 1.600 presos liberados en Honduras por el COVID-19, que deja 322 muertos," Agencia EFE, June 16, 2020, https://www.efe.com/efe/america/sociedad/mas-de-1-600-presos-liberados-en-honduras-por-el-covid-19-que-deja-322-muertos/20000013-4273187. See also, Marilin Pastrana, "Más de 700 presos han sido preliberados por la emergencia del coronavirus en Honduras," Radio HRN, June 15, 2020, https://www.radiohrn.hn/mas-de-700-presos-han-sido-preliberados-por-la-emergencia-del-coronavirus-en-honduras; Infobae, "Más de 1.600 presos liberados en Honduras por el COVID-19, que deja 322 muertos," June 16, 2020, https://www.infobae.com/america/agencias/2020/06/16/mas-de-1600-presos-liberados-en-honduras-por-el-covid-19-que-deja-322-muertos/.

169 World Prison Brief, "World Prison Brief data- Honduras," September 2019, https://www.prisonstudies.org/country/honduras.

170 EFE, "Más de 1.600 presos liberados en Honduras por el COVID-19, que deja 322 muertos," Agencia EFE, June 16, 2020, https://www.efe.com/efe/america/sociedad/mas-de-1-600-presos-liberados-en-honduras-por-el-covid-19-que-deja-322-muertos/20000013-4273187. See also, Marilin Pastrana, "Más de 700 presos han sido preliberados por la emergencia del coronavirus en Honduras," Radio HRN, June 15, 2020, https://www.radiohrn.hn/mas-de-700-presos-han-sido-preliberados-por-la-emergencia-del-coronavirus-en-honduras; Infobae, "Más de 1.600 presos liberados en Honduras por el COVID-19, que deja 322 muertos," June 16, 2020, https://www.infobae.com/america/agencias/2020/06/16/mas-de-1600-presos-liberados-en-honduras-por-el-covid-19-que-deja-322-muertos/.

171 Ibid.

Nelly Alvarado, "En esta Semana Santa más de 1,700 presos y presas regresan a sus hogares," Sistema Penitenciario Nacional, April 9, 2020, https://www.migob.gob.ni/penitenciario/en-esta-semana-santa-mas-de-1700-presos-y-presas-regresan-a-sus-hogares.

Europa Press, "Nicaragua pone en libertad a 2,800 presos ante denuncias por un posible brote de coronavirus en las cárceles del país," May 13, 2020, https://www.europapress.es/internacional/noticia-nicaragua-pone-libertad-2800-presos-denuncias-posible-brote-coronavirus-carceles-pais-20200513225618.html; El 19 Digital "Sistema Penitenciario Nacional entrega a 2,815 personas a sus Familias," May 13, 2020, https://www.el19digital.com/articulos/ver/titulo:103275-sistema-penitenciario-nacional-entrega-a-2815-personas-a-sus-familias.

Nelly Alvarado, "1,605 presos y presas regresan a sus hogares," Sistema Penitenciario Nacional, July 15, 2020, https://www.migob. $gob.ni/penitenciario/1605\hbox{-}presos\hbox{-}y\hbox{-}presas\hbox{-}regresan\hbox{-}a\hbox{-}sus\hbox{-}hogares/.$ For more examples, in February 2020 Nicaragua released more than 1,000 prisoners for Valentine's Day and in December and July 2019 it also executed smaller releases of 91 and 50 prisoners, according to unofficial sources. Sources: Nelly Alvarado, "En el mes del amor y la amistad más de mil presos y presas del país regresan a sus hogares," Sistema Penitenciario Nacional, February 19, 2020, https://www.migob.gob.ni/ penitenciario/en-el-mes-del-amor-y-la-amistad-mas-de-mil-presos-ypresas-del-pais-regresan-a-sus-hogares/; International Committee of the Red Cross, "Nicaragua: el CICR acompaña liberación de personas privadas de libertad," Reliefweb, December 30, 2019, https://reliefweb. int/report/nicaragua/nicaragua-el-cicr-acompa-liberaci-n-de-personas-privadas-de-libertad; Leonardo Niño, "El Gobierno de Daniel Ortega liberó a 50 "presos políticos" bajo la nueva Ley de Amnistía en Nicaragua," France 24, June 11, 2019, https://www.france24.com/es/20190611-gobierno-nicaragua-libera-50-presos-politicos.

175 Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, "IACHR and OSRESCER Express Serious Concerns About the Human Rights Situation During the Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic in Nicaragua," Organization of American States, April 8, 2020, http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media_center/PReleases/2020/072.asp.

The most updated information on total prison population was from October of 2018: World Prison Brief, "World Prison Brief data-Nicaragua," October 2018, https://www.prisonstudies.org/country/nicaragua.

177 Marcelo Bergman et al., "The Effect of Coronavirus in Prisons in Latin America," SOCLA and CELIV, Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SOCLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV), June 2020, https://criminologialatam. wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-de-latinoamerica/, 79.

AFP, "Nicaragua Excludes Political Prisoners From Mass Release," Barron's, April 9, 2020, https://www.barrons.com/news/nicaragua-excludes-political-prisoners-from-mass-release-01586430304. See also, Gabriela Selser, "Nicaragua excarcela a 2.815 reos tras muerte de prisionero," AP News, May 13, 2020, https://apnews.com/arti-

cle/77416f9d6f598281fdea433a6e374597.

Marcelo Bergman et al., "The Effect of Coronavirus in Prisons in Latin America," Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SO-CLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV), June 2020, https://criminologialatam.wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-de-latino-america/, 27. 180 lbid. 28.

181 See, for example, in Argentina: Veronica Smink, "Coronavirus en Argentina: por qué genera tanta polémica la decisión de sacar de la cárcel a algunos presos por riesgo a que contraigan el covid-19," BBC News Mundo Argentina, May 1, 2020, https://www.bbc.com/mundo/noticias-america-latina-52496655; Infobae, "En medio del rechazo generalizado a la liberación de presos, esta noche se realizará un cacerolazo en todo el país a las 20", April 30, 2020, https://www.infobae.com/coronavirus/2020/04/30/en-medio-del-rechazo-generalizado-a-la-liberacion-depresos-esta-noche-se-realizara-un-cacerolazo-en-todo-el-pais-a-las-20/.

For example, in April 2020, Asociación Usina de Justicia, a civil association for victims' rights filed an amparo against the recommendations and guidelines issued by the Federal Chamber of Criminal Appeals regarding possible alternative measures to imprisonment due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The Association argued that the directives issued by the Federal Chamber strip judges of their independence when making considerations for prisoner releases. Additionally, the Association contended that prisoner releases would in no way prevent the spread of the virus because there was no indication that these prisoners would comply with the national quarantine, considering they were already incarcerated for breaking the law. In the statement, which highlighted that measures to reduce population, rather than reduce overcrowding, promoted impunity, the president of the association, Dana Cohen Agrest, declared "civil society is anguished over the massive release of dangerous prisoners." Fabio Ferrer, "Coronavirus en Argentina: presentaron un amparo contra las liberaciones de presos con la excusa del COVID-19," Infobae, April 30, 2020, https://www.infobae.com/politica/2020/04/30/coronavirus-en-argentina-presentaron-un-amparo-contra-las-liberaciones-de-presos-conla-excusa-del-covid-10/.

183 See section IV.4 under Judicial Measures.

Poder Judicial de la Nación, "Juzgado Nacional en lo Criminal y Correccional, NRO. 37," May 2, 2020, https://www.diariojudicial.com/public/documentos/000/089/754/000089754.pdf, 17.

Provincia de Buenos Aires Poder Judicial, "Habeas Corpus N.102.555," April 8, 2020, http://www.scba.gov.ar/includes/descarga.asp?id=45403&n=Ver%20sentencia%20(habeas%20corpus%20 102.555).pdf. See also, Patricia Blanco, "Coronavirus: beneficiarán con arresto domiciliario a más de 400 presos de la Provincia de Buenos Aires," Infobae, April 9, 2020, https://www.infobae.com/sociedad/policiales/2020/04/09/coronavirus-beneficiaran-con-arresto-domiciliario-a-mas-de-400-presos-de-la-provincia-de-buenos-aires/.

Suprema Corte de Justicia Provincia de Buenos Aires, "P-133682-Q," May 4, 2020, http://www.scba.gov.ar/includes/descarga. asp?id=45522&n=Ver%20sentencia%20(causa%20P133682).pdf. See also, 0221, "La Suprema Corte revocó el fallo que habilitó las prisiones domiciliarias por el COVID-19," May 11, 2020, https://www.0221.com.ar/nota/2020-5-11-12-42-0-la-suprema-corte-revoco-el-fallo-del-juez-platense-que-habilito-las-excarcelaciones.

Italo Barbosa Lima Siqueira et al., "Los efectos del coronavirus en las cárceles de Latinoamérica," Sociedad de Criminología Latinoamericana (SOCLA) and Centro de Estudios Latinoamericanos sobre Inseguridad y Violencia (CELIV), June 2020, https://criminologialatam. wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-de-latinoamerica, 37; UOL, "Moro aprova manutenção da prisão de Gaddel: 'Coronavírus não é subterfúgio," March 30, 2020, https://noticias.uol.com.br/politica/ultimas-noticias/2020/03/30/moro-aprova-manutencao-da-prisao-de-geddel-coronavirus-nao-e-subterfugio.htm. See section IV.5



above under Judiciary Measures.

188 Ítalo Barbosa Lima Siqueira et al., "Los efectos del coronavirus en las cárceles de Latinoamérica," SOCLA and CELIV, June 2020, https://criminologialatam.wordpress.com/2020/06/12/efectos-del-covid-19-carceles-de-latino-america, 37.

Poder Judiciário Tribunal de Justiça do Estado de São Paulo, "Despacho," Processo N° 2061058-72.2020.8.26.0000, Codigo N° 1033FB57, April 1, 2020, https://esaj.tjsp.jus.br/pastadigital/ sg/abrirConferenciaDocumento.do. This decision was reversed two months later by Judge Luiz Edson Fachin of the Federal Supreme Court, who stated that the decision reflected the judge's personal impressions on the subject, went against sanitary recommendations, and contradicted the guidelines outlined by the National Justice Council. However, soon after, on May 31, another lower court judge. Otavia Rocha from the Sao Paolo Court of Justice, denied a request that would have granted house arrest to a prisoner with HIV on the basis that the risk of contagion is not sufficient for prisoner release. Tiago Angelo, "Fachin reverte decisão que citou astronautas e príncipes para negar domiciliar," Consultor Jurídico, May 12, 2020, https://www.conjur.com.br/2020-mai-12/fachin-reverte-decisao-cita-astronautas-negar-domiciliar - author; Poder Judiciário Tribunal de Justiça do Estado de São Paulo, "Habeas Corpus N° 2101302-43.2020.8.26.0000, Codigo N° 10BEC9D9," May 31, 2020, https://esaj.tjsp.jus.br/pastadigital/ sg/abrirConferenciaDocumento.do, 7-9; Migalhas, "Negada domiciliar a réu com HIV base em decisão de que só astronautas estão livres do coronavírus," June 3, 2020, https://www.migalhas.com.br/quentes/328259/negada-domiciliar-a-reu-com-hiv-com-base-em-decisao--de-que-so-astronautas-estao-livres-do-coronavirus. Translation is

See, for example, Prensa Comunitaria KM169, "En la emergencia del coronavirus militares condenados y en prisión preventiva pretenden salir de la cárcel," April 17, 2020, https://prensacomunitar.medium.com/en-la-emergencia-del-coronavirus-militares-condenados-y-en-prisión-preventiva-pretenden-salir-de-d598d4b1e0e6; Jo-Marie Burt and Paulo Estrada, "In Guatemala, COVID-19 Puts Justice on Hold, Emboldening Convicted War Criminals to Seek Their Freedom," International Justice Monitor, April 17, 2020, https://www.ijmonitor.org/2020/04/in-guatemala-covid-19-puts-justice-on-hold-emboldening-convicted-war-criminals-to-seek-their-freedom/.

191 Prensa Comunitaria KM169, "En la emergencia del coronavirus militares condenados y en prisión preventiva pretenden salir de la cárcel," April 17, 2020, https://prensacomunitar.medium.com/en-la-emergencia-del-coronavirus-militares-condenados-y-en-prisión-preventiva-pretenden-salir-de-d598d4b1e0e6.

See, for example, Prensa Comunitaria KM169, "En la emergencia del coronavirus militares condenados y en prisión preventiva pretenden salir de la cárcel," April 17, 2020, https://prensacomunitar.medium.com/en-la-emergencia-del-coronavirus-militares-condenados-y-en-prisión-preventiva-pretenden-salir-de-d598d4b1e0e6; Andrea Aguilar Córdoba, "Polémica por ley que permitiría indulto a condenados por crímenes en dictadura chilena por el COIVD-19," Agencia Anadolu, April 7, 2020, https://www.aa.com.tr/es/mundo/polémica-por-ley-que-permitiría-indulto-a-condenados-por-crímenes-en-dictadura-chilena-por-el-covid-19/1796077.

193 See section IV.v above under Legislative Measures.

Tribunal Constitucional Chile, "Sentencia Rol 8574-2020," Boletín N° 13.358-070, April 16, 2020, concurring opinion of Justice Rodrigo Pica Flores, Párr. 66, https://www.tribunalconstitucional.cl/descargar_expediente2.php?id=127139, 66.

195 La Tribuna, "Reforman polémico artículo 184 del Código Procesal Penal," April 25, 2020, https://www.latribuna.hn/2020/04/25/reforman-polemico-articulo-184-del-codigo-procesal-penal/.

See section IV.4 above under Executive Branch Measures.

Minjusticia, "Esperamos seguir generando estrategias para solucionar la problemática del hacinamiento': Ministra Cabello," Gobierno de Colombia, June 3, 2020, https://www.minjusticia.gov.co/Noticias/esperamos-seguir-generando-estrategias-para-solucionar-la-problem225tica-del-hacinamiento-ministra-cabello.

Ligia María Vargas Mendoza, "¿Sirvió el decreto para deshacinar las cárceles que expidió el Gobierno en la emergencia?" El Espectador, September 23, 2020, https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/judicial/sirvio-el-decreto-546-de-2020-para-deshacinar-las-carceles-en-la-emergencia/.

199 See section IV.5 above (Results of measures to reduce the prison population).

ANF, "Organización Mundial contra la Tortura lamenta grave situación sanitaria en penales de Bolivia," Correo del Sur, July 27, 2020, https://correodelsur.com/sociedad/20200727_organizacion-mundial-contra-la-tortura-lamenta-grave-situacion-sanitaria-en-penales-de-bolivia.html; Pamela Pomacahua, "Organismo pide liberar a más reclusos para evitar contagios," Página Siete, July 27, 2020, https://www.paginasiete.bo/seguridad/2020/7/27/organismo-pide-liberar-mas-reclusos-para-evitar-contagios-262548.html. Translation is ours.

See section IV.4 above under Judicial Measures.

202 Carlos Reyes P, ""No quieren salir de la cárcel: Más de 100 reos rechazan indulto para abandonar penales por coronavirus," La Tercera, April 27, 2020, https://www.latercera.com/la-tercera-pm/noticia/no-quieren-salir-de-la-carcel-mas-de-100-reos-rechazan-indulto-para-abandonar-penales-por-coronavirus/PNUDTSGGORBB-7FZMUDJQPLCSMQ/. See also, Patricio Domínguez and Pedro Rodriguez Martinez, "Ideas to Safely Reduce Prison Populations during the Pandemic," Inter-American Development Bank, May 4, 2020, https://blogs.iadb.org/ideas-matter/en/ideas-to-safely-reduce-prison-populations-during-the-pandemic/.

203 Carlos Reyes P, ""No quieren salir de la cárcel: Más de 100 reos rechazan indulto para abandonar penales por coronavirus," La Tercera, April 27, 2020, https://www.latercera.com/la-tercera-pm/noticia/no-quieren-salir-de-la-carcel-mas-de-100-reos-rechazan-indulto-para-abandonar-penales-por-coronavirus/PNUDTSGGORBB7FZMUD-JQPLCSMQ/.

See, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, "Introductory Handbook on the Prevention of Recidivism and the Social Reintegration of Offenders," United Nations, December 2012, https://www.unodc.org/documents/justice-and-prison-reform/crimeprevention/Introductory_Handbook_on_the_Prevention_of_Recidivism_and_the_Social_Reintegration_of_Offenders.pdf, 63-64.

Statement by Sir Malcolm Evans, Chairperson, United Nations Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment. 75th Session of the General Assembly, Third Committee, Item #72, 15 October 2020, New York. Available at: https://journal.un.org/en/meeting/officials/523bd3f9-2efe-ea11-9116-0050569e8b67/2020-10-15/statements.

See Nathalie Alvarado et al. "Las cárceles de América Latina y el Caribe ante la crisis sanitaria del COVID-19," Inter-American Development Bank, August, 2020, https://publications.iadb.org/publications/spanish/document/Las-carceles-de-America-Latina-y-el-Caribe-ante-la-crisis-sanitaria-del-COVID-19.pdf, p. 18.

207 See Section 2, "Initial Impact of COVID-19 in Prisons."

208 See Section 5, "Results of measures to reduce the prison population."

209 In this sense, a recent and welcome contribution that should be mentioned and used is the Covid-19 Digital Mapping: Justice and Deprivation of Liberty, a joint initiative of the Association for the Prevention of Torture and the United Nations Development Program that "allows monitoring and accessing updated information on

the measures adopted and the information published by State institutions to address the challenging situation of persons deprived of liberty in the context of the Covid-19 pandemic and its repercussions in the countries of the region." Available at: https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiNzYwNDI2NDItY2VmNC00YjcwLWJiNjctMDRmY-jQ2NDEwYTQyIiwidCl6Ijk2MDU3NjZiLTU5ZTUtNDI4Zi04YTgxL-WI1MzQ2MzczMWViNCIsImMi0jI9&pageName=ReportSection-1c38de3438a8f2e4110d.

210 See, https://blogs.iadb.org/ideas-matter/en/ideas-to-safely-reduce-prison-populations-during-the-pandemic/.

About the Peter D. Bell Rule of Law Program

Established in 2015 with support from the Ford Foundation and named in honor of a founding Dialogue co-chair, the Peter D. Bell Rule of Law Program aims to elevate policy discussions around democracy and human rights, corruption and transparency, and citizens security in the Americas.



www.thedialogue.org

Inter-American Dialogue 1155 15th Street NW, Suite 800 Washington, DC 20005 Tel: +1 202-822-9002